

JOHANNA PALMIO

Seizure-Related Neuronal Injury

A study of neuron-specific enolase, S-100b protein and tau protein

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Tampere, for public discussion in the Small Auditorium of Building B, Medical School of the University of Tampere, Medisiinarinkatu 3, Tampere, on June 13th, 2009, at 12 o'clock.

UNIVERSITY OF TAMPERE

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION University of Tampere, Medical School Pirkanmaa Hospital District, Neurology Outpatient Clinic Finland

Supervised by Professor Tapani Keränen University of Kuopio Finland Docent Jaana Suhonen University of Tampere Finland Reviewed by Docent Reetta Kälviäinen University of Kuopio Finland Docent Risto O. Roine University of Helsinki Finland

Distribution Bookshop TAJU P.O. Box 617 33014 University of Tampere Finland Tel. +358 3 3551 6055 Fax +358 3 3551 7685 taju@uta.fi www.uta.fi/taju http://granum.uta.fi

Cover design by Juha Siro

Acta Universitatis Tamperensis 1417 ISBN 978-951-44-7713-3 (print) ISSN-L 1455-1616 ISSN 1455-1616 Acta Electronica Universitatis Tamperensis 845 ISBN 978-951-44-7714-0 (pdf) ISSN 1456-954X http://acta.uta.fi

Tampereen Yliopistopaino Oy – Juvenes Print Tampere 2009

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	5
TIIVISTELMÄ	7
ABBREVIATIONS	9
LIST OF ORIGINAL COMMUNICATIONS	.11
INTRODUCTION	.13
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	.15
1. Epileptic seizures and epileptic syndromes	.15
2. The effects of epileptic seizures	. 19
2.1. Seizures and brain damage2.2. Mechanisms of seizure-related neuronal injury2.3. Clinical consequences of epileptic seizures	.20 .22 .23
3. Electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) and depressive disorder	.25
3.1. Depressive disorder	.25 .26 .27
4. Markers of seizure-related brain damage	.28
 4.1. Neuron-specific enolase (NSE)	.28 .29 .30 .32 .32 .32 .34 .35 .36 .37
AIMS OF THE STUDY	.39
SUBJECTS AND METHODS	.40
1. Patients	.40
 1.1. Patients with newly onset seizures (I) 1.2. Refractory epilepsy patients with repeated seizures (II) 1.3. Patients with acute seizures (III)	.40 .41 .42 .43

2. Control groups	44
3. Methods	45
3.1. Processing of the samples3.2. NSE	
3.4. T-tau and P-tau	
3.5. ECT procedure	
3.6. Statistical methods	
RESULTS	48
1. CSF and serum levels of NSE	
2. CSF and serum levels of S-100b	51
3. CSF T-tau, P-tau and P-tau/T-tau ratio	
DISCUSSION	56
1. Methodological considerations	57
2. NSE levels in epileptic and depressive patients	
3. S-100b levels in epileptic and depressive patients	61
4. T-tau, P-tau and P-tau/T-tau ratio after epileptic seizures	63
5. Future implications	
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	69
REFERENCES	71

ABSTRACT

Both experimental and clinical studies have established that status epilepticus (SE) induces neuronal injury. Whether brief recurrent seizures damage the brain is controversial. The markers of brain damage, neuron-specific enolase (NSE) and S-100b protein (S-100b) have been used to assess the primary injury as well as to predict outcome after various brain-damaging conditions. The levels of NSE may increase after SE, but the question whether a single tonic-clonic or complex partial seizure induces elevation of NSE and S-100b is still open. Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) tau protein measurements have been suggested for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease, and total tau (T-tau) may also be a marker of axonal damage and neuronal degeneration. CSF tau levels have not been previously measured after epileptic seizures. Electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) is the most effective treatment for patients with severe depression. An adequate generalized epileptic seizure is necessary for a therapeutic response; therefore, possibility of neuronal loss or dysfunction in some patients still raises concerns. At present, studies using biomarkers in patients treated with ECT are scant.

The levels of NSE, S-100b and tau were measured in different patient groups with seizures. Patients with newly onset seizures, patients with refractory epilepsy, and patients with generalized tonic-clonic seizures with various etiologies were included in the study. Serum and CSF samples were collected shortly after seizures. Serial serum samples of NSE and S-100b were obtained also from patients treated with ECT.

CSF NSE or S-100b concentrations were not increased in patients with single uncomplicated newly onset seizures. On the other hand, serial serum measurements of both NSE and S-100b levels showed elevations in patients with refractory temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE), whereas in extratemporal epilepsies (XTLE) the changes were not significant. CSF tau levels after seizures were not increased in patients with idiopathic or probably symptomatic (cryptogenic) epilepsy, and abnormal CSF tau levels were only found in patients with either acute or remote symptomatic seizures. Serial serum measurements of NSE or S-100b did not show significant changes in patients treated with ECT. However, a transient elevation of S-100b after ECT in four out of ten patients was observed, and high S-100b levels at 2 h and 6 h after ECT correlated with the treatment response.

Our results imply that single uncomplicated seizures do not increase the levels of these biomarkers indicating absence of seizure-induced neuronal injury. In TLE, increased levels of NSE and S-100b suggest that in refractory TLE with repeated seizures the sensitivity to damage is different, and the damage induced by recurrent brief seizures over the years contributes to the progression of the disorder. S-100b has a dual role as a marker of either glial damage or glial activation. Our results of S-100b levels after ECT do not indicate neuronal injury but rather demonstrate glial activation induced by ECT. The activation could be neurotrophic in nature and the antidepressant effect of ECT may be mediated by this glial activation.

TIIVISTELMÄ

Sekä kokeelliset että kliiniset tutkimukset ovat osoittaneet, että status epilepticus (SE) aiheuttaa hermosolujen vaurioitumista. On epäselvää, aiheuttavatko myös lyhytkestoiset toistuvat kohtaukset vauriota. Aivovaurion merkkiaineita, neuronispesifistä enolaasia (NSE) ja S-100b-proteiinia (S-100b), on käytetty aivoja vaurioittavissa tiloissa vaurion asteen arvioinnissa ja toipumisen ennustamisessa. NSE:n pitoisuudet voivat nousta SE:n jälkeen, mutta ei tiedetä, aiheuttavatko yksittäiset toonis-klooniset tai monimuotoiset paikallisalkuiset kohtaukset NSE:n tai S-100b:n nousua. Aivo-selkäydinnesteestä (cerebrospinal fluid, CSF) mitattava tau-proteiini on käytössä Alzheimerin taudin diagnostiikassa, mutta kokonais-tau (total tau, T-tau) voi olla myös aksonaalisen vaurion ja neurodegeneraation merkkiaine. CSF tau-pitoisuuksia ei ole aiemmin mitattu epileptisten kohtausten jälkeen. Sähköhoito (electroconvulsive therapy, ECT) on tehokkain hoitomuoto vakavassa masennuksessa. Hoidollisen tehon saavuttamiseksi vaaditaan riittävä yleistynyt epileptinen kohtaus, jonka vuoksi hermosolujen vaurioitumisen tai toimintahäiriön mahdollisuus on edelleen huolenaihe.

Epileptisen kohtauksen saaneilta potilailta mitattiin seerumin tai CSF:n NSE:n, S-100b:n ja taun pitoisuudet pian kohtauksen jälkeen. Potilasryhminä olivat vastasairastuneet potilaat, vaikeahoitoista epilepsiaa sairastavat potilaat ja potilaat, joilla yleistynyt toonis-klooninen kohtaus aiheutui erilaisista syistä. Lisäksi keräsimme sarjan seerumin NSE- ja S-100b-näytteitä ECT-hoitoa saavilta potilailta.

CSF:n NSE- tai S-100b-pitoisuudet eivät nousseet vastasairastuneilla potilailla, joilla oli yksittäinen, komplisoitumaton kohtaus. Toisaalta seerumin NSE- ja S-100b-pitoisuudet nousivat vaikeahoitoista temporaaliepilepsiaa (TLE), mutta ei extratemporaaliepilepsiaa sairastavilla. CSF:n tau-pitoisuudet eivät nousseet idiopaattista tai kryptogeenista epilepsiaa sairastavilla. Poikkeavia tau-arvoja todettiin vain potilailla, joilla oli joko akuutti tai kaukaisempi symptomaattinen syy epileptisiin kohtauksiin. Seerumin NSE- tai S-100b-sarjamittaukset eivät merkittävästi muuttuneet ECT-potilailla. Lyhytkestoisia S-100b:n nousuja kuitenkin todettiin neljällä potilaalla kymmenestä ja korkea S-100b-pitoisuus 2 ja 6 tunnin kohdalla korreloi hoitotuloksiin.

Tuloksemme viittaavat siihen, että yksittäinen, komplisoitumaton kohtaus ei aiheuta biomarkkereiden pitoisuuksien nousua, eikä löydös viittaa kohtauksen aiheuttamaan hermosolun vaurioon. TLE-potilailla NSE- ja S-100b-pitoisuuksien nousu viittaa vaikeahoitoisen TLE:n erilaiseen vaurioitumisherkkyyteen, ja vaurio, jonka toistuvat lyhyet kohtaukset aiheuttavat, voi vaikuttaa vuosien saatossa taudin etenemiseen. S-100b-tason nousu heijastaa joko glian vauriota tai aktivaatiota. S-100b-määritykset ECTpotilailla eivät viittaa hermoston vaurioon vaan sopivat ECT:n indusoimaan gliaaktivaatioon. Aktivaatio voi olla luonteeltaan neurotrooppinen ja ECT:n hoitovaste saattaa välittyä tämän glian aktivoitumisen kautta.

ABBREVIATIONS

- AD Alzheimer's disease
- AED antiepileptic drug
- BBB blood-brain barrier
- BDI Beck Depression Inventory
- BDNF brain-derived neurotrophic factor
- CJD Creutzfeldt Jakob disease
- CNS central nervous system
- CPS complex partial seizure
- CPSE complex partial status epilepticus
- CSF cerebrospinal fluid
- CT computed tomography
- ECS electroconvulsive stimulation
- ECT electroconvulsive therapy
- EEG electroencephalography
- EMG electromyogram
- GABA gamma aminobutyric acid
- GFAP glial fibrillary acidic protein
- GTCS generalized tonic-clonic seizure
- GTCSE generalized tonic-clonic status epilepticus
- HS hippocampal sclerosis
- ILAE International League Against Epilepsy
- LP lumbar puncture
- MADRS Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale

- MBP myelin basic protein
- MDD major depressive disorder
- MMSE Mini Mental State Examination
- MRI magnetic resonance imaging
- NSE neuron-specific enolase
- P-tau phosphorylated tau protein
- PTZ pentylenetetrazol
- S-100b S-100b protein
- SGTCS secondary generalized tonic-clonic seizure
- SE status epilepticus
- SPS simple partial seizure
- SUDEP sudden unexpected death in epilepsy
- T-tau total tau protein
- TBI traumatic brain injury
- TLE temporal lobe epilepsy
- XTLE extratemporal epilepsy

LIST OF ORIGINAL COMMUNICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original communications referred to in the text by Roman numerals **I-IV**:

I Palmio J, Peltola J, Vuorinen P, Laine S, Suhonen J, Keränen T (2001). Normal CSF neuron-specific enolase and S-100 protein levels in patients with recent non-complicated tonic-clonic seizure. J Neurol Sci 183:27-31.

II Palmio J, Keränen T, Alapirtti T, Hulkkonen J, Mäkinen R, Holm P, Suhonen J, Peltola J (2008). Elevated serum neuron-specific enolase in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy: a video-EEG study. Epilepsy Res 81:155-160.

III Palmio J, Suhonen J, Keränen T, Hulkkonen J, Peltola J, Pirttilä T (2009). Cerebrospinal fluid tau as a marker of neuronal damage after epileptic seizure. Seizure, in press

IV Palmio J, Huuhka M, Laine S, Huhtala H, Peltola J, Leinonen E, Suhonen J, Keränen T (2009). Electroconvulsive therapy and biomarkers of neuronal injury and plasticity: Serum levels of neuron-specific enolase and S-100b protein. Psychiatry Res, in press

INTRODUCTION

Epilepsy is a disorder of the brain that affects people of all ages and in every country of the world. It is the most common acquired chronic neurological disorder that affects 1% to 3% of the population, i.e., around 50 million people world wide have epilepsy (Hauser et al. 1996). It is characterized by recurrent seizures, which are physical reactions to sudden, usually brief, electrical discharges in parts of the brain. Characteristics of seizures vary and depend on where in the brain the disturbance starts and how it spreads. Clinical symptoms are transient, such as loss of awareness or consciousness, and disturbances of movement, sensation, mood or mental function. Some epilepsies are idiopathic, probably with genetic background and some are a consequence of a known or suspected symptomatic cause, e.g. brain tumor, stroke or congenital disorder. Acute symptomatic seizures are usually due to acute systemic or cerebral causes or related to alcohol or other substance withdrawal syndrome.

Epilepsy is one of the world's oldest recognized conditions. Fear, misunderstanding, discrimination and social stigma have surrounded epilepsy for centuries. Accounts of and references to epileptic seizures can be found in several ancient scripts, but not until Hippocrates was the origin of epilepsy placed in the brain (Daras et al. 2008). With modern medication, 60-70% of patients with newly diagnosed epilepsy enter long-term remission (Kwan and Brodie 2000). Nevertheless, over 30% of patients continue to have seizures (Kwan and Brodie 2000) and a subset of these patients develop progressive epilepsy with an increase of seizure frequency and cognitive decline (Collaborative Group for the Study of Epilepsy 1992). Thus, some of the stigma continues today in many countries and can impact the quality of life for people with the disorder and their

families. Further, epilepsy clearly increases a person's risk of premature death compared to the general population and sudden unexpected death in epilepsy is the most common seizure related category (Tomson et al. 2008).

For many decades, there has been debate whether epileptic seizures, especially brief recurrent seizures, damage the brain. Both status epilepticus (SE) and recurrent brief seizures can have severe and lasting effects on the brain structure. These effects can either be harmful or protective attempts to counterbalance the pro-epileptic effects (Parent et al. 2008). Various biomarkers have been studied in the context of epilepsy and brain damage. However, no validated marker has yet been established. Neuron-specific enolase (NSE), S-100b protein (S-100b), and more recently tau protein have been used as markers of brain damage in various neurological disorders and conditions. There are reports of NSE and S-100b in the context of epilepsy and brain damage, but their role is controversial (DeGiorgio et al. 1995, Leutmezer et al. 2002). Tau protein has not been previously studied with recent epileptic seizures. An ideal biomarker could help determine the critical duration of epileptic seizures prior to neuronal injury, define subtypes of epilepsy requiring more aggressive interventions and possibly serve as a prognostic tool.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1. Epileptic seizures and epileptic syndromes

Epileptic seizures are associated with electric discharges in a population of hyperexcitable neurons. Epileptic seizures are usually caused by discharges generated in cortical and hippocampal structures, although subcortical structures are involved in some seizure types. The clinical features of a seizure depend on its site of origin, duration, and propagation (Avanzini and Franceschetti 2003). Seizures are either acute symptomatic or unprovoked. Acute symptomatic seizures occur at the time of a systemic insult or in close temporal association with a brain insult. Unprovoked seizures occur in the absence of triggering factors (Hauser and Beghi 2008). Epilepsies are a heterogeneous group of conditions characterized by the recurrence of spontaneous unprovoked seizures. Together they represent the most common acquired chronic neurological disorder, affecting 1% to 3% of the population (Hauser et al. 1996). The prevalence of epilepsy is 5-9/1000; the cumulative lifetime incidence is approximately 3% (Shneker and Fountain 2003). The latest annual incidence in the total population in Finland is 52.9/100 000 (Sillanpää et al. 2006).

Epileptic seizures are divided into focal and generalized seizures. In focal (partial) seizures the initial activation is limited to part of one cerebral hemisphere, whereas in generalized seizures it involves both hemispheres. Self-limited epileptic seizures are distinguished from SE (Table 1). An epilepsy syndrome is a complex of signs and symptoms that define a unique epilepsy condition (Table 2).

TABLE 1 The International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) classification of seizure types (2001)

Self-limited seizure types

Generalized seizures

Tonic-clonic seizures Clonic seizures Without tonic features With tonic features Typical absence seizures Atypical absence seizures Myoclonic absence seizures Tonic seizures Spasms Myoclonic seizures Eyelid myoclonia Without absences With absences Myoclonic atonic seizures Negative myoclonus Atonic seizures Reflex seizures in generalized epilepsy syndromes

Focal seizures

Focal sensory seizures With elementary sensory symptoms With experiential sensory symptoms Focal motor seizures With elementary clonic motor signs With asymmetrical tonic motor seizures With typical (temporal lobe) automatisms With typical (temporal lobe) automatisms With hyperkinetic automatisms With focal negative myoclonus With inhibitory motor seizures Gelastic seizures Hemiclonic seizures Secondarily generalized seizures Reflex seizures in focal epilepsy syndromes

Continuous seizure types

Generalized status epilepticus

Generalized tonic-clonic status epilepticus Clonic status epilepticus Absence status epilepticus Tonic status epilepticus Myoclonic status epilepticus

Focal status epilepticus

Epilepsia partialis continua of Kojevnikov Aura continua Limbic status epilepticus (psychomotor status) Hemiconvulsive status with hemiparesis TABLE 2 The International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) classification of epilepsy syndromes and related conditions (2001)

Benign familial neonatal seizures Early myoclonic encephalopathy Ohtahara syndrome * Migrating partial seizures of infancy West syndrome Benign myoclonic epilepsy in infancy Benign familial infantile seizures Benign infantile seizures (nonfamilial) Dravet's syndrome HH syndrome * Myoclonic status in nonprogressive encephalopathies Benign childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes Early onset benign childhood occipital epilepsy (Panayiotopoulos type) Late onset childhood occipital epilepsy (Gastaut type) Epilepsy with myoclonic absences Epilepsy with myoclonic-astatic seizures Lennox-Gastaut syndrome Landau-Kleffner syndrome (LKS) Epilepsy with continuous spike-and-waves during slow-wave sleep (other than LKS) Childhood absence epilepsy Progressive myoclonus epilepsies Idiopathic generalized epilepsies with variable phenotypes Juvenile absence epilepsy Juvenile myoclonic epilepsy Epilepsy with generalized tonic-clonic seizures only Reflex epilepsies Idiopathic photosensitive occipital lobe epilepsy Other visual sensitive epilepsies Primary reading epilepsy Startle epilepsy Autosomal dominant nocturnal frontal lobe epilepsy Familial temporal lobe epilepsies * Generalized epilepsies with febrile seizures plus * Familial focal epilepsy with variable foci Symptomatic (or probably symptomatic) focal epilepsies Limbic epilepsies Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy with hippocampal sclerosis Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy defined by specific etiologies Other types defined by location and etiology Neocortical epilepsies Rasmussen syndrome Other types defined by location and etiology Conditions with epileptic seizures that do not require a diagnosis of epilepsy Benign neonatal seizures Febrile seizures Reflex seizures Alcohol-withdrawal seizures Drug or other chemically induced seizures Immediate and early post-traumatic seizures Single seizures or isolated clusters of seizures Rarely repeated seizures (oligoepilepsy)

* Syndromes in development

TABLE 3 Etiology of epilepsy

Inherited epileptic disorders Acquired epileptic disorders Hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy Head trauma Cerebral stroke Vascular malformations Cortical dysplasias Central nervous system infections Brain tumors Toxic central nervous system disturbances Ammon's horn sclerosis

Epilepsia (2003) 44:S21-22

Epilepsies can generally be divided into three major categories based on etiology. Idiopathic epilepsies refer to contributing genetic factors in the development of seizures. In symptomatic epilepsies, there is a known (remote) etiologic lesion in the brain. The third category is probably symptomatic (previously called cryptogenic) in which the etiology is most likely symptomatic but the lesion cannot be identified (Engel 2001). The incidence of symptomatic epilepsy is highest in older age groups, especially over 65 years of age (Kotsopoulos et al. 2005), and its etiology is diverse. The most common etiologies for epilepsy are stroke, tumors, trauma and congenital disorders as well as dementia disorders (Forsgren et al. 1996; 2005) (Table 3). In acute symptomatic seizures alcohol or other substance withdrawal is the most common etiology (Forsgren et al. 1996).

Epilepsies are diagnosed on the basis of accurate description of the seizure, electroencephalography (EEG) (Figure 1), and structural neuroimaging. Epileptic syndrome, seizure type, and etiology largely determine which antiepileptic drug (AED) to choose in an individual patient. Response to the first AED is the most powerful predictor of long-term prognosis (Brodie and Kwan 2002). 60-70% of patients with

newly diagnosed epilepsy enter long-term remission, mostly on a single AED (Sillanpää et al. 1998; Kwan and Brodie 2000). Over 30% of patients have refractory epilepsy, i.e. they do not respond to adequate AED treatment (Kwan and Brodie 2000) and a subset of these patients develop progressive epilepsy (Collaborative Group for the Study of Epilepsy 1992). Prognosis is often thought to be poorer in patients with localizationrelated epilepsy, especially temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE), than with generalized epilepsies (Stephen et al. 2001).



Figure 1. Ictal epileptic activity is visible in the EEG in the form of discharges in generalized absence epilepsy (A) and focal right temporal lobe onset epilepsy (B).

2. The effects of epileptic seizures

Both SE and recurrent seizures can have severe and lasting effects on the architecture of the brain. Some of the changes observed in experimental models or in clinical studies may be interpreted as either harmful or protective attempts to counterbalance the proepileptic effects (Parent et al. 2008). Several experimental animal models for SE and for epilepsies with focal seizures have been developed to gain understanding of the effects of seizures as well as the mechanisms involved in seizure-initiation, epileptogenesis, and to study treatment options. The most commonly used animal models are chemically induced seizures by kainic acid, pentylenetetrazol (PTZ) and pilocarpine, or seizures induced by electrical stimulation either focally or by maximal electroconvulsive shock model. A common model of epileptogenesis is kindling, in which repetitive, subconvulsive electrical stimulation evokes progressively prolonged responses that culminate in generalized seizures (Pitkänen et al. 2007).

Epileptogenesis is the process that leads to the first spontaneous seizure after the primary, potentially seizure-causing event, e.g. SE, traumatic brain injury (TBI) or stroke. During this clinically silent latency period a number of parallel and sequential molecular and cellular events occur leading to increased excitability and development of recurrent spontaneous seizures (Figure 2). The latency period varies in length from weeks to years (Pitkänen et al. 2007).

2.1. Seizures and brain damage

Epileptic seizures can cause neuronal cell death, enhanced neurogenesis, axonal sprouting, dendritic changes, and reactive gliosis. It is difficult to assess the contribution of the underlying epileptogenic insult versus recurrent brief seizures to neuronal damage; thus controversy whether repeated brief seizures can cause neuronal damage continues (Pitkänen et al. 2002; Sutula, 2004). Histopathological analyses have suggested that both the initial insult and recurrent seizures contribute to the damage (Mathern et al. 1995). There is indication from the kindling model that brief recurrent seizures can lead to cell loss and sprouting (Cavazos et al. 1994; Sutula et al. 1996; Pitkänen and Sutula 2002).



Figure 2. Schematic representation of the factors that may be triggered by brain injury leading to epilepsy. Modified from Pitkänen and Sutula 2002.

Both experimental and clinical studies have shown that SE may induce neuronal damage (Young 2006). Activation of mesial temporal structures is more likely to cause damage than that of other areas of the brain (Holmes 2002); therefore, one of the consequences of prolonged seizures is selective neuronal loss in the hippocampus. There is histopathological, radiological and biochemical evidence that SE causes neuronal injury identical to mesial temporal sclerosis in humans and subsequently TLE (Fountain and Lothman 1995; Fountain and Freeman 2006). Typical neuronal necrosis in hippocampal areas CA1, CA3 and subiculum have been observed in autopsy specimens from patients who died during SE (DeGiorgio et al. 1992). Imaging studies have also reported progressive hippocampal atrophy and evolution of mesial temporal sclerosis after SE or prolonged seizures (Tien and Felsberg 1995; Wieshmann et al. 1997; Natsume et al. 2007).

2.2. Mechanisms of seizure-related neuronal injury

The damage caused by changes that are a direct consequence of seizure activity, i.e. excitotoxic damage, is considered the most important mechanism of injury during SE (Wasterlain et al. 1993; Fountain and Lothman 1995). Further, SE can cause brain damage by other physiological changes, i.e. hypoxia, and drug therapy of SE also carries risks. In seizures, there is a failure of gamma aminobutyric acid (GABA) –induced inhibition, and potentially neurotoxic increases in the extracellular levels of glutamate in the epileptogenic hippocampus have been demonstrated (Milgram et al. 1991; During and Spencer 1993). Changes in neuronal excitability induce abnormal activity in individual neurons and cause hyperexcitable cells to participate in synchronized

activities that occur through normal or pathological pathways (Avanzini and Franceschetti 2003). Recurrent seizures may trigger synaptic plasticity, modify molecular processes and lead to further facilitation of excitability and predisposition to seizures. This plasticity in neural circuits may induce progressive damage but it is also possible that it may provide resistance to additional damage (Sutula 2004). There is also evidence that programmed cell death contributes to neuronal damage in patients with epilepsy (Henshall et al. 2000).

Recent findings suggest that modified astroglial functioning may have a role in the generation and spread of seizure activity. Their dysfunction might be involved in the pathogenesis of epilepsy (Jabs et al. 2008; Schwarcz 2008). Further, immune and inflammatory reactions occur after seizures. Experimental studies in rodent models show that increased levels of inflammatory mediators have pro-ictogenic effects and can contribute to cell loss and blood-brain barrier (BBB) damage (Vezzani et al. 2008). Cytokines can also induce synthesis of mediators in brain repair, e.g. nerve growth factor, ciliary neurotrophic factor, and insulin-like growth factor from astrocytes (Allan and Rothwell 2001).

2.3. Clinical consequences of epileptic seizures

Several magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies have shown an association between severity of hippocampal damage and the estimated total seizure number, seizure frequency, and duration of epilepsy (Van Paesschen et al. 1997; Salmenperä et al. 2001). A prospective MRI study of patients with newly diagnosed focal epilepsy found that hippocampal damage occurs in individual patients in the course of 2 to 3 years of follow-up. The patients who developed hippocampal volume decrease had seizures of longer duration and higher number before the diagnosis of epilepsy (Salmenperä et al. 2005). Neuropathological evidence from epilepsy surgery most commonly obtained from patients with refractory TLE shows that density and branching of dendritic spines are reduced (Babb and Brown 1986), there is sprouting of mossy fibers in the dentate gyrus (Proper et al. 2000), and astrocytosis is common (Doherty et al. 2007). Ongoing injury is suggested by the presence of activated microglia (Beach et al. 1995). However, not all patients with frequent seizures exhibit signs of damage, which underlines the heterogeneity of individual susceptibility (e.g. co-morbidities, genetic factors) to neuronal damage from severe epilepsy (Duncan 2002).

The risk of morbidity and mortality is highest in generalized tonic-clonic form of SE (GTCSE). Chronic encephalopathy and brain atrophy follow GTCSE in 6 to 15% of patients, presumably as a result of diffuse cortical injury (Dodrill and Wilensky 1990; Eriksson and Koivikko 1997). Often it is not possible to identify whether SE itself or the underlying clinical condition is the cause of the subsequent cognitive decline after SE (Helmstaedter 2007). GTCSE can have a negative effect on cognitive function, particularly memory (Dodrill 2002). However, the incidence of demonstrable cognitive deficits induced by SE in humans appears to be low (Dodrill and Wilensky 1990; Adachi et al. 2005). The development of future epilepsy is the most common identifiable long-term complication of GTCSE (Eriksson and Koivikko 1997; Hesdorffer et al. 1998). The risk of developing epilepsy after SE appears to be higher than after a single acute symptomatic seizure. In these cases, SE can be a marker for abnormal brain or damage caused by SE can contribute to subsequent epilepsy (Hesdorffer et al. 1998; Berg et al. 1996).

In rodents, both hippocampal lesions and experimental epilepsy reduce performance in cognitive tasks (Holmes 2002). Clinical and epidemiological studies have shown that a subset of patients with epilepsy has progressive features such as increasing seizure frequency and cognitive decline (Sutula 2004). Progressive symptoms are particularly common in TLE (Pitkänen et al. 2002). Neuropsychological and imaging evidence indicate that some patients have progressive cortical atrophy, and the effects of recurrent seizures on cognitive function have shown a slight but consistent relation between seizures and mental decline (Dodrill 2002; Helmstaedter 2002; Sutula and Pitkänen 2002). Furthermore, it is well established that children with epilepsy are known to have cognitive problems. Their general intellectual functioning is often lowered and specific encephalopathies, such as Lennox-Gastaut or West Syndrome, are a group of syndromes that are characterized by regression of cognitive development or failure to reach developmental standards (Nabbout and Dulac 2003).

3. Electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) and depressive disorder

3.1. Depressive disorder

Depressive disorders are mental illnesses characterized by a profound and persistent feeling of depressed mood and/or a loss of interest or pleasure. Disturbances in sleep, appetite, and mental processes are common symptoms. To qualify for diagnostic criteria these symptoms should cause clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning (American Psychiatric Association

1994). A study by the World Health Organization ranked depression the fourth common global burden of disease and found it to be the largest non-fatal one (Ustün et al. 2004). Major depressive disorder (MDD) has an estimated lifetime prevalence of about 17 % (Kessler et al. 2005). Although the pathogenesis of MDD is complex and not fully understood, depression affects integrated neural pathways shared by monoaminergic neurotransmitter systems (Delgado 2000). There is also growing evidence that neurotrophic mechanisms are important pathogenetic factors in depression as well as in the action of antidepressant treatment (Gould et al. 2003). Treatments for depression include psychological interventions, pharmacological treatment and ECT for medication resistant severe depression (American Psychiatric Association 2000).

3.2. ECT

ECT is the most effective treatment for patients with severe depression, with medication resistance its leading indication (The UK ECT Review Group 2003). The efficacy of ECT has also been well documented in mania and some forms of schizophrenia (American Psychiatric Association 2001). Use of ECT was introduced when it was realized that symptoms of schizophrenia were reduced after spontaneous epileptic seizures (Meduna 1936; Fink 1984). ECT is generally considered a safe treatment and in more recent decades its use has included muscle-relaxants, general anesthesia and oxygenation. However, the current use of ECT is relatively infrequent partly because of its limited availability (Huuhka 2005). An adequate generalized epileptic seizure is necessary for a therapeutic response (Beyer et al. 1998). The neurobiological action of ECT is not fully understood, but it is known that ECT has effects on several

neurotransmitters and their receptors, neuropeptides, hormones and neurotrophic factors (Wahlund and von Rosen 2003). Neurogenesis, neurite outgrowth, and neuronal plasticity associated with brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), glutamate, and cAMP-protein kinase A signalling pathways may mediate the antidepressant effects of ECT (Altar et al. 2004).

3.3. Neuronal damage after ECT

Although ECT is considered safe, the most common adverse effects associated with ECT are transient memory loss and related cognitive dysfunction. ECT may induce acute postictal disorientation and anterograde or retrograde amnesia (Calev et al. 1991; Sackeim et al. 1993; Rose et al. 2003). These adverse effects are largely reversible and short-lived, although cognitive side effects have been detected even after 6 months after ECT (Sackeim et al. 2007). Electrical waveform and electrode placement correlate with the risk of cognitive side effects, e.g. bilateral ECT results in more severe and persisting retrograde amnesia than right unilateral ECT (Sackeim et al. 2007). Advancing age and lower premorbid intellectual function have been associated with greater cognitive deficits suggesting that patients with greater premorbid abilities can better compensate for the impact of ECT on cognitive functions (Sackeim et al. 2007). Persistent cognitive adverse effects observed in selected patients have raised a concern that ECT may induce neuronal damage. However, no evidence of structural brain damage due to ECT has been found in structural brain imaging studies, autopsy reports of patients who had received ECT or animal studies of electroconvulsive shocks (ECS) (Devanand et al. 1994).

4. Markers of seizure-related brain damage

Markers of brain damage could help determine the critical duration of epileptic seizures prior to neuronal injury, define subtypes of epilepsy requiring more aggressive interventions and possibly serve as a prognostic tool. Various biomarkers have been studied in the context of epilepsy and brain damage, e.g. BDNF (Toro et al. 2007), myelin basic protein (MBP), glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) (Gurnett et al. 2003), neurofilament (Lamers et al. 2003), and different enzymes (enolase, aldolase, pyruvate kinase, lactate dehydrogenase, creatine phosphokinase) (Royds et al. 1983). However, neuron-specific enolase and S-100b protein are the most widely investigated biochemical markers of nervous tissue damage, present only in low concentrations outside the nervous system (Kato et al. 1982).

4.1. Neuron-specific enolase (NSE)

NSE is a $\gamma\gamma$ -isoenzyme of the glycolytic enzyme enolase involved in the glycolysis pathway at the conversion of 2-phosphoglycerate to phosphoenolpyruvate. NSE originates predominantly from the cytoplasm of neurons and neuroendocrine cells. Neuronal damage and impairment of the BBB integrity can be detected by the release of NSE into cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and eventually into the blood (Schmechel et al. 1978) NSE is therefore regarded as a marker of neuronal damage and prognosis in various neurological disorders associated with cell damage in the central or peripheral nervous system. The serum levels of NSE increase also in neuroendocrine tumors, such as small-cell lung cancer and neuroblastoma. NSE is used as a tumor marker for lung cancers and has been suggested as a useful marker in monitoring the response to therapy and in the detection of early recurrences (Karnak et al. 2005).

4.1.1. NSE and brain damage

Elevated levels of NSE in either CSF or serum have been found in neurological conditions such as TBI, focal or global ischemia, hemorrhagic brain damage, SE, and Guillain-Barré syndrome (Roine et al. 1989; Vermuyten et al. 1990; Vos et al. 2004; Anand and Stead 2005; Zandbergen et al. 2006). Although increased levels of CSF NSE have been measured in patients with Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (CJD) or different types of dementias in some studies (Wakayama et al. 1987; Blennow et al. 1994; Zerr et al. 1995), the measurement of CSF NSE has not been additionally helpful in differentiating CJD or Alzheimer's disease (AD) from other neurodegenerative disorders (Parnetti et al. 1995; Bahl et al. 2008).

Serum NSE has been more widely used in assessing the magnitude of primary damage as well as in predicting outcome after hypoxic (Böttiger et al. 2001; Rech et al. 2006) and TBI (Vos et al. 2004) and ischemic stroke (Wunderlich et al. 1999). Levels of CSF and serum NSE correlated with the prognosis of hypoxic brain damage after cardiac arrest (Roine et al. 1989; Pfeifer et al. 2005), and treatment with hypothermia was associated with declining levels of serum NSE, as compared with normothermia-treated patients (Tiainen et al. 2003). Serum NSE levels rose twofold after severe TBI compared to normal values (Vos et al. 2004) and these levels in serum or CSF have been found to correlate with the outcome in several studies (Dauberschmidt et al. 1983; Herrman et al. 1999;2001; Vos et al. 2004). High serum NSE levels have usually indicated worse outcome in patients with ischemic stroke, and they correlated with volume of infarcted tissue (Anand and Stead 2005), although contradictory results have also been reported (Cunningham et al. 1991; Missler et al. 1997).

The magnitude of clinically significant increase in NSE levels in respect of brain damage is not well established. The upper normal levels for NSE also vary in previous studies because of different determination methods. It is therefore recommended that each laboratory should obtain its own reference values (Casmiro et al. 2005). In a normal population CSF and serum NSE concentrations were 17.3 ± 4.6 and $8.7 \pm 3.9 \mu g/L$, respectively. Using serum NSE with a cut-off point of > 80 mg/L for predicting persisting coma after cardiopulmonary resuscitation, specificity was 100 % with a sensitivity of 65 % (Reisinger et al. 2008). Sex or age does not affect the levels of NSE (Casmiro et al. 2005). Hemolysis produces false elevated values of NSE, and hemolysed samples should not be included for analysis.

4.1.2. NSE and epileptic seizures

Evidence obtained by animal models has shown that markedly elevated CSF or serum NSE levels are associated with irreversible neuronal injury following SE and complex partial status epilepticus (CPSE) as confirmed by histological data (Sankar et al. 1997; Schreiber et al. 1999; Hasegawa et al. 2002). In humans CSF and serum NSE levels obtained within the first 24 or 48 hours were elevated and correlated well with the duration of SE and outcome of patients (DeGiorgio et al. 1995; Correale et al. 1998).

Only a few studies have shown elevated NSE levels also in CPSE and non-convulsive status epilepticus in humans (DeGiorgio et al. 1996; O'Regan and Brown 1998; DeGiorgio et al. 1999).

The studies reporting levels of either CSF or serum NSE shortly after single, brief seizures are controversial. In rat brain, CSF levels of NSE presented a biphasic increase after brief single tonic-clonic seizure induced by pentylenetetrazol (Oses et al. 2004). Several studies have found elevated NSE levels, but only in a subset of patients with no identifiable factors associated with elevations. Elevated CSF NSE levels have been reported in 3 out of 10 patients with epilepsy measured a few days postictum (Jacobi and Reiber 1988). CSF NSE was also increased after methohexital-induced electrographic seizures in all three patients undergoing epilepsy surgery (Rabinowicz et al. 1994). Elevated levels of serum NSE have been observed after single tonic-clonic seizures (Greffe et al. 1996; Büttner et al. 1999) and during inpatient video/EEG monitoring (Rabinowicz et al. 1996; Tumani et al. 1999; Willert et al. 2004). The studied seizure type has mainly been generalized tonic-clonic (GTCS) seizure. Only a few analyses have been done after partial seizures, after which NSE can also increase, although a more pronounced increase has been seen after secondary generalized seizures (Pitkänen and Sutula 2002). Furthermore, cisternal CSF levels of NSE in TLE patients were more elevated on the side of seizure origin (Steinhoff et al. 1999). CSF and serum NSE levels were normal in children with febrile seizures (Rodrígues-Núñez et al. 2000; Borusiak and Herbold 2003), although an association between the duration of partial febrile seizures and CSF NSE levels has been observed (Tanabe et al. 2001).

Previous ECT studies using variable methods (e.g. varying ECT technology, sampling only during the first ECT session or after repeated ECTs) have shown no systematic serum NSE changes after ECT-induced seizures (Berrouschot et al. 1996; Greffe et al. 1996; Agelink et al. 2001). Only three patients showed a transient increase in the levels of NSE after ECT (Greffe et al. 1996; Agelink et al. 2001). No correlation with the ECT features (energy doses, seizure durations, cognitive performance tests) was observed.

4.2. S-100b protein (S-100b)

S-100 is a mixture of dimeric proteins consisting of two subunits α and β . S-100b ($\beta\beta$ -S-100) is present in high concentrations in glial cells and Schwann cells. S-100b protein (S-100b) is a calcium-binding protein, which has many intracellular and extracellular functions in the central nervous system (CNS) (Donato 2001). Under normal circumstances, S-100b promotes the growth of neurites, stimulates astrocyte proliferation, and increases free calcium concentrations in both neurons and astrocytes (Zimmer et al. 1995; Donato 2001). Increase in S-100b may reflect either glial damage or astrocytic reactions to neural injury, and these reactions may have neuroprotective properties (Herrmann et al. 2000; Pleines et al. 2001).

4.2.1. S-100b as a marker of brain damage

The levels of S-100b in serum and CSF are elevated after different types of brain damage such as focal and global ischemia (Martens et al. 1998; Pfeifer et al. 2005; Nash

et al. 2008), TBI (Kleindienst et al. 2007), bacterial meningitis (Lins et al. 2005) and subarachnoid hemorrhage (Wiesmann et al. 1997). S-100b seems to be quite an ideal marker for acute brain ischemia (Nash et al. 2008). After ischemic stroke the CSF and serum levels of S-100b are significantly increased when measured within 0-180 h after the onset of symptoms. The peak values have been found at 24-120 h (Nash et al. 2008). Higher serum S-100b values indicate larger infarction volumes, more severe strokes and the levels correlate with an outcome of stroke patients (Abraha et al. 1997; Missler et al. 1997; Foerch et al. 2005). Elevated S-100b levels in serum were also a risk factor for hemorrhagic transformation after thrombolytic therapy in patients with acute stroke (Foerch et al. 2007). S-100b is being used as a prognostic marker after global hypoxicischaemic brain damage (Rosén et al. 1998; Böttiger et al. 2001; Pfeifer et al. 2005). Especially, daily serum measurements have been reported as useful in estimating the outcome of these patients (Pfeifer et al. 2005). In trauma patients extracerebral origin of S-100b must be taken into account, because damaged skeletal muscle or adipose tissue can contribute to elevated levels (Bloomfield et al. 2007; Kleindienst et al. 2007). However, a correlation between serum S-100b levels and severity of the damage and outcome in severe head injury has been demonstrated in several studies (Hayakata et al. 2004; Savola et al. 2004; Townend et al. 2006a). Even more attempts have been made to prove correlation between serum S-100b levels and minor head trauma. So far, normal S-100b levels cannot be used to exclude patients from computed tomography (CT) scanning, but elevated levels support selection of patients for further imaging (Müller et al. 2007).

The levels of serum S-100b in healthy controls have been observed to fall between 0.018 and 0.098 μ g/L (Arts et al. 2006; Müller et al. 2006). The magnitude of increase in

serum S-100b levels seen in overt brain damage (e.g. head trauma and ischemic injury) varies (Bloomfield et al. 2007), but at least ten-fold increases have been noted in moderate to severe brain injury (Savola et al. 2004). Many studies have used a cut-off level of 2.0-2.5 μ g/L in patients with TBI (Townend et al. 2006a). For example, with S-100b levels of $\geq 0.2 \mu$ g/L at day two after cardiac arrest the positive predictive value for fatal outcome was 100 % and the negative predictive value was 89 % for survival (Rosén et al. 1998). At any rate, sustained elevations of S-100b in serum over 24 hours can more reliably predict the extent of brain injury (Bloomfield et al. 2007). The half-life of S-100b is short, 20-25 minutes (Jönsson et al. 2000; Townend et al. 2006b), thus possible early and transient increases may not become detected depending on study protocols. Whether the S-100b concentration is age dependent is controversial (Nygaard et al. 1997; Portela et al. 2002). Some studies have shown age dependency but others have not. For example, Portela et al. (2002) found a negative correlation between S-100b and age in the first 20 years but not after the age of 20.

4.2.2. S-100b as a marker of glial activation

S-100b can regulate cell-cell communication, cell growth and cell structure, energy metabolism, contraction and intracellular signal transduction (Zimmer et al. 1995; Donato 2003). Extracellular S-100b has a dual effect on neurons depending on its concentration. At nanomolar concentrations it has neurotrophic and neuroprotective effects, whereas at micromolar doses it can cause neuronal death via apoptosis (Donato 2001). It may play a role in synaptic plasticity in memory and learning (Whitaker-Azmitia and Azmitia 1994) or, in higher concentrations, S-100b may impair spatial

34

learning (Gerlai and Roder 1996) and cause cell death (Whitaker-Azmitia et al. 1997). 5-HT1A receptor agonists, glutamate, adenosine, and lysophosphatydic acid stimulate release of S-100b by astrocytes. The dual effect of S-100b has raised questions of whether its injury-induced increase is due to a passive release of astrocytes or an active release by stimulated astrocytes initiating repair mechanisms (Kleindienst et al. 2007; Sen and Belli 2007). Furthermore, the therapeutic effects of S-100b have been implied in experimental trauma models (Kleindienst et al. 2004; 2005).

4.2.3. S-100b and epileptic seizures

Only three previous studies have measured S-100b levels in patients shortly after seizures. In six epileptic children the serum levels of S-100b after the seizure were 2-3 times higher than in the control group (Sendrowski et al. 2004). Two other studies reporting the serum levels of S-100b in adult patients after single tonic-clonic seizures observed no postictal elevation (Büttner et al. 1999; Leutmezer et al. 2002). Serum S-100b levels were normal also interictally in patients with focal epilepsy (Portela et al. 2003) but cisternal CSF S-100b was elevated and site-specific in intractable TLE patients (Steinhoff et al. 1999). CSF S-100b levels increased early in rat after seizure induced by PTZ, possibly indicating an astrocytic reaction aiming to promote neuronal stability and neuroprotection (Oses et al. 2004). Furthermore, S-100b knockout mice showed more susceptibility to seizures than wild-type mice in a kindling model (Dyck et al. 2002).

Increased CSF or serum levels of S-100b are not commonly observed after ECT (Zachrisson et al. 2000; Agelink et al. 2001). Only one previous study found a small but significant rise in S-100b levels at 1 hour, with similar but reduced effect at 3 hours after ECT (Arts et al. 2006). Patients with higher S-100b levels pre-ECT were also more likely to display poorer working memory but less subjective cognitive impairment post-ECT and less depression at follow-up.

4.2.4. S-100b and mood disorders

Evidence has suggested that neurodegeneration might be a pathogenetic factor in the development of major depression and schizophrenia (Rothermundt et al. 2003). In patients with psychiatric disorders, the levels of serum S-100b have been elevated, especially with mood disorders, bipolar disorder during episodes of mania and depression, and schizophrenia (Wiesmann et al. 1999; Machado-Vieira et al. 2002; Schroeter et al. 2002; Arolt et al. 2003; Andreassa et al. 2007). Serum S-100b levels may be reduced as a response to antidepressant treatment, suggesting its neuroprotective function (Schroeter et al. 2002; Arolt et al. 2003). However, it remains unclear whether an increase in serum S-100b in these conditions is due to destruction of astrocytes or to an active release of S-100b from intact astrocytes attempting to repair neuronal damage (Dietrich et al. 2004).
4.3. Tau and phosphorylated tau protein

Tau is a microtubule-associated protein with a major role in normal microtubular function in axons. It promotes the polymerization of tubulin into microtubules and stabilizes microtubules. Phosphorylation of tau protein decreases its ability to promote microtubular assembly. Under normal conditions tau protein is mildly phosphorylated and the equilibrium between phosphorylation and dephosphorylation modulates cytoskeletal stability and axonal morphology (Mandelkow et al. 1995). AD and many other human neurodegenerative conditions are characterized by hyperphosphorylation of tau (Lace 2007). CSF total tau (T-tau) and especially phosphorylated tau (P-tau) measurements have been used in the diagnosis of AD. Hyperphosphorylation of tau is thought to lead to neurofibrillary changes, a neuropathological hallmark of AD, and P-tau in CSF correlates with neocortical neurofibrillary pathology in AD (Buerger et al. 2006).

Tau protein is primarily localized in neuronal axons, and after brain parenchymal damage its release into CSF may increase (Delacourte 1994). Increased CSF T-tau levels have been found in patients with severe TBI (Franz et al. 2003; Öst et al. 2006), acute ischemic stroke (Hesse et al. 2000), intracerebral hemorrhage, multiple sclerosis and viral encephalitis, thus suggesting that t-tau CSF levels reflect the extent of axonal damage and neuronal degeneration (Süssmuth et al. 2001). CSF tau levels are very high in patients with CJD (Riemenschneider et al. 2003). Only one case report based on a single patient has reported a transient elevation of CSF tau measured four days after the

seizure (Matsui et al. 2007). Other than that, tau levels have not previously been measured after epileptic seizures.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

In these series of studies the purpose was to determine the degree and nature of possible brain damage after epileptic seizures. The established markers of brain damage, NSE, S-100b and tau were used in different patient groups with seizures. The specific aims were

i to search for evidence of neuronal damage after previously undiagnosed and untreated single tonic–clonic seizures;

ii to search for evidence of neuronal damage and to study temporal association of changes in biomarkers in patients with chronic refractory localization-related (focal) epilepsy;

iii to evaluate the association of increased tau levels with tonic-clonic seizures due to various etiologies; and

iv to investigate neuronal damage or glial activation in patients treated with ECT.

SUBJECTS AND METHODS

The patients and control subjects included in this study were treated at the Departments of Neurology (I, II, III) and Psychiatry (IV), Tampere University Hospital, Finland. All patients were fully informed of the risks and potential benefits of the CSF examination. The patients and control subjects gave their written informed consent. The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Tampere University Hospital.

1. Patients

1.1. Patients with newly onset seizures (I)

A total of 22 consecutive patients (mean age 39 years, range 15–60) with single, previously undiagnosed and untreated tonic–clonic or partial secondarily generalized seizures were included in the study. The CSF samples were taken within 24 h (mean 15.1 h) after the seizure. Patients with seizures associated with electrolyte disturbances, metabolic causes, acute brain disease or trauma were excluded. 12 patients had single seizures; six patients had another seizure in emergency room. Six patients had seizures due to alcohol withdrawal. The duration of seizures was 1 to 15 min according to inpatient records. After the first epileptic seizure patients usually underwent EEG and CT or MRI examinations. There were two cerebral tumors (meningeoma and glioblastoma multiforme) in the epileptic group. The other patients had normal CT/MRI findings.

We included 31 patients with chronic refractory, partial epilepsy, 16 women and 15 men, with a mean age of 34 years (range 16-58 years). The patients were admitted for 24-h inpatient video-EEG monitoring to characterize and localize seizures or adjust medication. Baseline (0 h) serum samples were collected when the patients were admitted for video-EEG monitoring, and at 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, and 24 h after index seizure. The first clearly identifiable ictal event was selected as index seizure. Seizure burden was measured by total duration of seizures recorded during the 24-hour sampling period. The epilepsy syndrome was established according to ILAE diagnostic criteria. The patients were categorized into TLE and extratemporal epilepsies (XTLE) based on video-EEG recordings and MRI findings, as was the etiology of epilepsy (Table 4). There were six patients on monotherapy, 24 on polytherapy (mean number of medications 2.6), one had no medication, and three patients were treated with vagus nerve stimulation (Table 5).

Epilepsy	No. of	Male /	Age,		MRI	findings	
syndrome	patients	Female	mean (range)	Normal	HS	Cortical dysplasia	Other
TLE	15	8 / 7	40 (20-58)	4	9	1	1
XTLE	16	7 / 9	28 (16-52)	8	-	4	4

TABLE 4 Characteristics of the patients with refractory epilepsy

TLE, temporal lobe epilepsy

XTLE, extratemporal epilepsy

Epilepsy Mean Mean		Mean	Index seizure type			Patients on	Number of	Mean
syndrome	epilepsy, years (range)	seizure frequency, per month* (range) SPS CPS SC		SGTCS	polytherapy in 24 h, mean (range)		burden, seconds (±S.D.)	
TLE	24.2 (2-56)	7.4 (0.5-26)	1	11	3	3 / 12	2.6 (1-11)	259 (216)
XTLE	16.2 (1-52)	40.8 (0.5-200)	4	10	2	3 / 12	4.7** (1-12)	2492 (7704)

TABLE 5 Information on epilepsy of the patients with refractory epilepsy

TLE, temporal lobe epilepsy; XTLE, extratemporal epilepsy; HS, hippocampal sclerosis; SPS, simple partial seizure; CPS, complex partial seizure; SGTCS, secondary generalized tonic-clonic seizure; *during the last year; ** two patients with 100 and 200 seizures (during the 24 h) excluded

1.3. Patients with acute seizures (III)

A total of 54 patients (mean age 48 years, range 16-88 years) with tonic–clonic or partial secondarily generalized seizures were included in the study. The patients had either single or recurrent seizures (median number of seizures 1.5). Nine patients had SE. The CSF samples were taken within 48 h (mean 14.4 h) after the seizure. The patients were divided into groups based on the underlying etiology of epileptic seizures. The seizures were caused by alcohol withdrawal in group 1 (ALCO). In groups 2 and 3 the patients had a diagnosis of epilepsy. Group 2 (SYMPT) had remote symptomatic epilepsy and in group 3 (EPI) the patients had either cryptogenic focal (n=10) or idiopathic epilepsy (n=3) with no related findings in brain CT or MRI. In group 4 (ACU) seizures were caused by acute systemic illness (sepsis, hyponatremia) or acute CNS disorder (acute

brain infarction, encephalitis, necrotizing encephalomyelitis). In addition to these four groups, three patients had only a single seizure of unknown etiology (Table 6).

	Group 1 (ALCO)	Group 2 (SYMPT)	Group 3 (EPI)	Group 4 (ACU)	Controls
No. of patients	15	16	13	7	31
The mean age (range)	50 (31-69)	60 (25-88)	36 (16-73)	45 (16-75)	40 (15-56)

TABLE 6 The patients divided into four etiologic groups

Group 1 (ALCO), alcohol withdrawal Group 2 (SYMPT), remote symptomatic epilepsy Group 3 (EPI), cryptogenic focal, or idiopathic epilepsy Group 4 (ACU), acute systemic or CNS illness

1.4. Patients with depression (IV)

Ten patients scheduled for treatment with ECT (mean age 56 years, range 28-70 years) were included in the study. The serum samples were collected before ECT and at 1 h, 2 h, 6 h, 24 h, and 48 h after the treatment. All the patients were diagnosed with MDD; four of them showed psychotic features. The patients were otherwise healthy except for one patient (no. 7) who had ischemic heart disease and a history of a stroke 6 months before the treatment. The patients' psychotrophic medications were continued unchanged during the treatment. The severity of depression was scored with Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) and Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) before and after the series of ECT. Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) scores were also assessed before and after ECT (Table 7).

Patient	Age/	Medication	BDI	MARDS	MMSE	No of
No.	Sex	group	Pre/post-	Pre/post-	Pre/post-	ECT*
			ECT	ECT	ECT	
1	70/F	1,3	25/0	25/0	30/30	7
2	64/M	1,3	27/2	39/1	27/29	1
3	33/F	2,3	34/5	29/3	-/30	1
4	73/F	1,2,3	31/7	32/9	27/27	1
5	57/F	1,2	22/19	18/6	25/24	5
6	28/F	1,2	34/1	31/11	30/27	4
7	62/F	1,3	55/32	34/9	29/30	3
8	62/F	1,2	13/0	21/7	28/24	5
9	41/M	2	28/38	29/33	29/29	6
10	66/M	1,2,3	36/17	32/10	25/21	5
Mean	56		31/12	29/9	28/27	

 TABLE 7 Characteristics of the patients with depression

Medication group: 1, neuroleptics; 2, antidepressants; 3, benzodiazepines BDI, Beck Depression Inventory (maximum 63) MARDS, Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (maximum 60) MMSE, Mini-Mental State Examination (maximum 30) ECT, electroconvulsive therapy

* Out of succession of treatments

2. Control groups

In studies I and III, the control samples were obtained from 20 (I) and 31 (II) adult patients with neurological symptoms (e.g. dizziness, headache) on whom lumbar puncture (LP) was performed to exclude neurological disease. Clinical examination or imaging studies (CT or MRI of the head) revealed no pathological findings. The mean age in the control groups was 40 years (16–56 years) (I), and 40 years (range 15-56 years) (II).

3. Methods

3.1. Processing of the samples

The first 2 ml of CSF was used for routine examination and a further 200 μ l for the studies. Blood was collected within 30 min of LP in a Vacutainer EDTA vacuum tube and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 min. Hemolyzed samples were not included for NSE analysis. The serum and CSF samples were stored at -70° C prior to analysis.

3.2. NSE

NSE assays were performed using an enzyme immunoassay technique (Cobas Core[®] NSE EIA, Hoffmann-La Roche, Switzerland) (I, IV) and electrochemiluminescense immunoassay technique (ECLIA) (Elecsys® 2010 Immunoassay Analyzer, Roche Diagnostics GmbH) (II). The lower detection limit for NSE was < 0.05 μ g/L. The assays were performed according to manufacturers' protocol. The upper limit used for normal values of NSE was 17 μ g/L by Roche's instructions.

3.3. S-100b

The S-100b concentrations were measured by an immunoluminometric assay for the quantification of protein (LIA-mat® Sangtec®100, Sangtec Medical, Sweden) (I, IV)

and electrochemiluminescense immunoassay technique (ECLIA) (Elecsys® 2010 Immunoassay Analyzer, Roche Diagnostics GmbH) (III). The sensitivity of the S-100b assay was <0.02 μ g/l (I, IV) and < 0.005 μ g/L (II). The assays were performed according to manufacturers' protocol. The upper limit used for normal values of S-100b was 0.11 μ g/L by Roche's instructions.

3.4. T-tau and P-tau

The CSF levels of T-tau and P-tau_(181P) were measured by a commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, ELISA (Innogenetics, Ghent, Belgium) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The ELISA analyses were done blinded to the diagnostic group. Two patients in group 4 (ACU) and two in controls did not have enough CSF for P-tau measurement. P-tau/T-tau ratio was also calculated. A concentration of T-tau above 400 pg/mL for patients over 60 years was considered abnormal as established previously (Herukka et al. 2005). We used 300 pg/mL as reference value for patients below 60 years, as previous studies have suggested lower reference values for younger patients (Sjögren et al. 2001).

3.5. ECT procedure

All patients were treated with bilateral ECT administered with a Thymatron DGx (Somatics Inc, Lake Bluff, Ill) brief-pulse device. The initial-stimulus dosage (millicoulombs) was adjusted to all patients with the age method, being about five times

their age (Swartz and Abrams 1996). Anesthesia was induced with propofol (5/10 patients) or methohexital (5/10 patients) and muscle relaxation with succinylcholine. The arterial oxygen saturation, heart rate and three-lead ECG were continuously monitored. The seizure duration was measured with EEG and convulsive motor response with electromyogram (EMG). All patients experienced an adequate electrical generalized seizure (mean seizure duration 45.7 seconds) and the mean energy used was 272.2 mC.

3.6. Statistical methods

Mean and standard deviations were calculated for variables and medians and quartiles for non-parametric variables. Pearson's correlation (parametric) and Spearman's correlation (non-parametric) were used to asses associations between variables. Statistical significance of differences between two groups was tested by independent two-tailed *t*-test in study I. Friedman analysis of variance (ANOVA) with post hoc comparisons (Wilcoxon matched pairs test), Kruskall-Wallis ANOVA and Mann-Whitney U-test were used to compare concentrations of NSE and S-100 and T-tau and P-tau in studies II, III and IV when appropriate. Area under curve (AUC) values were estimated using MedCalc (ver. Win 9.1.0.1, MedCalc software, Mariakerke, Belgium) (Matthews et al., 1990). Frequency tables were compared with Pearson chi-square test (in 2 x 5 tables, 4 degrees of freedom) and Fisher's exact test (post-hoc comparisons in 2 x 2 tables, 1 degree of freedom). Statistical calculations were carried out using Statistical (ver. Win 5.1D, Statsoft Inc., Tulsa, OK, USA). Findings were considered statistically significant at *P* values less than 0.05.

RESULTS

The following results of biomarkers after epileptic seizures were obtained from the patients with newly onset seizures, refractory epilepsy patients with repeated seizures; and patients with depression undergoing ECT treatment. CSF tau measurements were also evaluated in patients with epileptic seizures due to different etiologic groups.

1. CSF and serum levels of NSE

There were no significant differences in the mean CSF and serum NSE levels between the patients with newly onset seizures and the control group (I, Table 8) or in the median serum NSE levels in depressed patients after ECT at various time points (IV, Table 9). Only three patients in the epilepsy group had CSF levels of NSE over 12 μ g/l (Table 10). The two patients in the epilepsy group who were found to have tumors (meningeoma and glioblastoma multiforme) also had normal values (CSF NSE 3 and 9 μ g/l, respectively). There was no correlation between serum and CSF levels of NSE (r = 0.13, *P* = 0.40)

In the patients with refractory epilepsy the serum levels of NSE in the TLE group showed a statistically significant increase, whereas in the XTLE group the changes were not significant (II, Table 9). As the increase in the NSE concentration after an index seizure seemed to be single peaked and linear, we calculated the AUC curves for each subject (Matthews et al., 1990). The difference in NSE AUCs from the baseline (0 h) to the 24 h end-point was

clearly significant (AUC_{0-24 h} for TLE 78.64 ± 48.22 vs. XTLE 24.58 ± 35.89, *P* < 0.005). This difference stands for net NSE concentration difference in TLE and XTLE during the whole video-EEG monitoring. The major difference was caused by the marked increase in NSE in TLE from 6 to 12 hours as well as 12 to 24 hours postictal time intervals (AUC_{6-12 h} for TLE 25.6 ± 20.6 vs. XTLE 7.8 ± 13.37, *P* < 0.013 and AUC_{12-24 h} for TLE 36.67 ± 28.53 vs. XTLE 6.69 ± 19.10, *P* < 0.009). NSE levels in TLE started to increase at 3 h and the time to reach maximum was 10.2 ± 7.76 h for TLE and 7.88 ± 5.78 h for XTLE after index seizure (*P* = 0.39). Five patients had only one brief seizure. The number of seizures or seizure burden did not correlate with the levels of NSE. Also five patients had a secondary generalized tonic-clonic seizure (SGTCS) as index seizure but SGTCS did not explain the increases of NSE. The mean levels of NSE were not significantly increased either within or between the subgroups of patients based on different etiologies of epilepsy.

NSE μg/l	Patient group $(n = 22)$	Control group $(n = 20)$	P value
CSF	8.9	13.1	0.60
(mean ± S.D.)	(6.9)	(6.1)	
Serum	8.2	8.0	0.21
(mean ± S.D.)	(2.8)	(2.1)	

TABLE 8 CSF and serum levels of neuron-specific enolase (NSE) in patients with newly onset seizures and controls (I)

NSE μg/l	0 h	1 h	2 h	3 h	6 h	12 h	24 h	48 h	P value
TLE $(n = 15)$									
mean	8.4			11.4*	13.5*	13.0*	10.3*		0.006
(± S.D.)	(2.6)			(3.8)	(4.5)	(5.5)	(3.1)		
XTLE (n = 16)									
mean	9.4			11.3	10.3	10.1	9.4		0.30
(± S.D.)	(1.5)			(3.5)	(3.4)	(2.8)	(2.7)		
ECT (n = 10)									
median	7.0	8.0	8.0		7.0		7.5	8.5	0.30
(quartiles)	5.8-9.3	6.8-10.0	8.0-9.0		7.0-9.0		5.0-9.0	6.8-11.3	

TABLE 9 Serial serum neuron-specific enolase (NSE) in temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) and extratemporal epilepsy (XTLE) patients (II) and depressed patients treated with electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) (IV)

* Wilcoxon matched pairs; 0 h < 3 h, p = 0.005; 0 h < 6 h, p = 0.0009; 0 h < 12 h, P = 0.002; 0 h < 24 h, P = 0.008

Age / sex	CSF NSE µg/l	Serum NSE µg/l	Seizure	Imaging
56 / M	19	13	1 short uncomplicated	Normal
60 / F	28	10	2 (1 prolonged)	Atrophy
41 / M	23	5	2 short	Normal

TABLE 10 Characteristics of three patients with elevated CSF neuron-specific enolase (NSE) (I)

2. CSF and serum levels of S-100b

There were no significant differences in the mean CSF and serum S-100b levels between the patients with newly onset seizures and control subjects (I, Table 11). In refractory epilepsy patients with repeated seizures the serum levels of S-100b in the TLE group showed a statistically significant increase, but shorter and smaller than the levels of NSE. Again there were no changes in the XTLE group (II, Table 12). In the patients treated with ECT (IV), there was a trend towards an increase in S-100b levels at 2h. The changes were, however, not statistically significant (Table 12). In four patients the S-100b levels were increased at least 2-fold at 2 h compared to the baseline, the maximum elevation being 8-fold. The changes in the levels of S-100b did not correlate with the parameters of the treatment, e.g. seizure duration, energy used or the number of ECT session. The pre-to-post ECT changes in MADRS and BDI scores correlated with the concentration of S-100b at 2 h (MADRS, r = 0.68, P = 0.044; BDI, r = 0.65, P = 0.60) and at 6 h (MADRS, r = 0.73, P = 0.040; BDI, r = 0.77, P = 0.027). In addition, the reduction of BDI scores correlated with the increase of S-100b at 2 h (r = 0.75, P =0.020).

S-100b μg/l	Patient group (n = 22)	Control group $(n = 20)$	P value
CSF	3.2	3.2	0.13
(mean ± S.D.)	(1.3)	(0.9)	
Serum	0.05	0.08	0.13
(mean ± S.D.)	(0.10)	(0.06)	

TABLE 11 CSF and serum levels of S-100b protein (S-100b) in patients and controls (I)

S-100b μg/l	0 h	1 h	2 h	3 h	6 h	12 h	24 h	48 h	Р
									value
TLE $(n = 15)$									
mean	0.068			0.076	0.082*	0.077*	0.064		0.05
(± S.D.)	(0.043)			(0.070)	(0.044)	(0.055)	(0.048)		
XTLE (n = 16)									
mean	0.065			0.064	0.062	0.062	0.057		0.40
(± S.D.)	(0.033)			(0.036)	(0.033)	(0.033)	(0.025)		
ECT (n = 10)									
median	0.16	0.18	0.25		0.14		0.15	0.11	0.55
(quartiles)	0.02-0.41	0.02-0.52	0.07-0.45		0.03-0.62		0.01-0.42	0.03-0.50	

TABLE 12 Serial S-100b protein (S-100b) in temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) and extratemporal epilepsy (XTLE) patients (II) and depressed patients treated with electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) (IV)

* Wilcoxon matched pairs; 0 h < 6 h, P = 0.05; 0 h < 12 h, P = 0.01

3. CSF T-tau, P-tau and P-tau/T-tau ratio

There were no statistical differences in T-tau or P-tau levels between different etiologic groups and controls, but P-tau/T-tau ratio differed between the groups and controls (Table 13). The number of seizures, SE or the time interval between the seizures and CSF sample did not correlate with tau concentrations (Spearman's correlation). As the reference values established in our laboratory were for patients over 60 years, we obtained a reference group of younger controls. However, we found no differences in the mean levels of CSF T-tau or P-tau between age-matched controls and patients with epilepsy group 3.

There was statistical difference in the frequency of abnormal T-tau levels between the groups studied (p = 0.002, Pearson Chi-square). None of the patients with epilepsy of unknown origin (group 3) or the controls had abnormal levels of T-tau. Three patients with a single seizure also had normal levels of T-tau (Table 13). However, a total of eleven patients (20%) in other groups had abnormal T-tau levels. The characteristics of these patients are shown in Table 14. The controls differed from groups with symptomatic seizures (groups 1, 2 and 4; p = 0.03-0.003, Fisher's exact test) but not from those with epileptic seizures with unknown etiology (group 3, NS). When groups 2 (SYMPT) and 3 (EPI), i.e. epilepsy without acute illness, were compared, there was also statistical difference in the number of abnormal T-tau (p = 0.04, Fisher's exact test). P-tau was abnormal in four patients and in two controls. Elevations were small except in one patient who was diagnosed with AD.

	T-tau pg/mL	P-tau pg/mL	P-tau / T-tau ratio
	(quartiles)	(quartiles)	(quartiles)
All patients	163.1	39.6	0.23
n = 54	(124.4-328.1)	(30.2-51.8)	(0.18-0.25)
Group 1 (ALCO)	163.1	36.6	0.217
n = 15	(129.3-333.3)	(26.8-53.9)	(0.164-0.243)
Group 2 (SYMPT)	259.1	47.6	0.202
n = 16	(115.5-518.2)	(29.1-64.2)	(0.135-0.242)
Group 3 (EPI)	133.4	37.6	0.266
n = 13	(114.9-159.2)	(31.1-41.0)	(0.244-0.327)
Group 4 (ACU)	251.9	38.7	0.191
n = 7	(127.3-388.7)	(34.2-50.6)	(0.093-0.232)
Controls	143.5	38.1	0.256
n = 31	(108.1-214.9)	(31.3-51.6)	(0.238-0.314)
P - value ANOVA	0.09	0.6	0.003

TABLE 13 The median values of T-tau, P-tau and P-tau/T-tau ratio in different patient groups and controls

Group 1 (ALCO), alcohol withdrawal

Group 2 (SYMPT), remote symptomatic epilepsy

Group 3 (EPI), cryptogenic focal, or idiopathic epilepsy

Group 4 (ACU), acute systemic or CNS illness

Patients, age	Diagnosis,	CSF T-tau	CSF P-tau	CSF
-	etiology of epileptic seizures	pg/mL	pg/mL	P-tau/T-tau
		~ -		ratio
Group 1 (ALCO)				
No 1, 44 yrs	Alcoholic encephalopathy	692.0	36.6	0.053
No 2, 69 yrs	Wernicke's encephalopathy	512.3	74.8	0.146
No 3, 41 yrs	Alcohol withdrawal	403.4	69.2	0.172
Group 2 (SYMPT)				
No 4, 88 vrs	Alzheimer's disease	809.0	105.2	0.130
No 5, 62 yrs	Post-traumatic epilepsy	443.3	47.1	0.106
No 6, 86 yrs	Post-stroke epilepsy	1687.9	59.4	0.035
No 7, 32 yrs	Post-encephalitic epilepsy	593.1	83.4	0.141
No 8, 66 yrs	Large inoperable pituitary	706.2	80.6	0.114
· ·	adenoma			
Group 4 (ACII)				
No 0.16 urg	Viral an apphalitis	288 7	21 2	0.088
No 10, 74 urg	Viral anophalitis	5466	50.6	0.000
NO 10, 74 YFS	vitat enceptians	340.0 250.2	30.0 ND	0.093
NO 11, 17 yrs	Necrotizing encephalomyelitis	330.2	ND	ND

TABLE 14 Characteristics of the patients with elevated T-tau levels

Group 1 (ALCO), alcohol withdrawal

Group 2 (SYMPT), remote symptomatic epilepsy Group 4 (ACU), acute systemic or CNS illness

DISCUSSION

The aim of this thesis was to examine possible neuronal injury associated with epileptic seizures. We used established biomarkers NSE, S-100b and tau as indicators of brain damage. The changes in these biomarkers were observed shortly after epileptic seizures in different patient groups and control subjects. We found that single uncomplicated brief seizures did not increase the levels of biomarkers. The effect of seizures in refractory TLE with repeated seizures was different and clear elevations of NSE and S-100b were observed. However, the levels of tau did not increase after idiopathic or cryptogenic epilepsy, and abnormal levels were only found in patients with either acute or remote symptomatic seizures. Although epileptic seizures in ECT did not increase biomarkers, transient elevations of S-100b could indicate glial activation.

This study has some limitations that should be acknowledged. Patient populations in the various groups are small as is usual with clinical settings, especially with studies using CSF measurements. Etiologies of epilepsies and epileptic seizures vary, thus patient groups comprise heterogeneous populations. This could be a confounding factor, even if only adult patients are included. Timing of the samples seems to be critical in analyzing possible transient changes after events that are not long-lasting or ongoing. Serial serum measurements detect transient changes more reliably but LP cannot be repeated straightforwardly. A long-term follow-up of the patients was not a purpose of this study. Methodological issues are discussed further.

1. Methodological considerations

In studies I and III, the control groups comprised patients with acute neurological symptoms (dizziness, headache). These groups may well differ from the normal population even if there was no demonstrable pathology in further examinations. In the control group in study I, the mean CSF NSE values were actually higher (13.0 ng/mL) than in the study group and some individuals had higher levels than upper normal limit. However, no explanation could be given to these high levels; thus the interpretation of only a modest elevation of NSE remains open.

The laboratory has established reference values for tau for older patients (> 60 years) (Herukka et al. 2005), and it is known that CSF tau increases with age (Bürger née Buch et al. 1999; Sjögren et al. 2001). Therefore, we obtained control samples from younger (< 60 years) patients (III). Patient group 3 (EPI) was age-matched with controls; their levels of T-tau or P-tau were not increased compared to the controls. Furthermore, none of the controls had abnormal T-tau or P-tau values.

The patients in video-EEG (II) had refractory epilepsy with usually frequent seizures. Thus it was not possible to determine the effects of single seizure on biomarkers in most cases. Many patients experienced recurrent seizures during the sampling period; therefore, we calculated seizure burden by total duration of seizures recorded during the 24-hour sampling period. However, the number or duration of seizures did not explain the increased levels of biomarkers. Further, we compared individual changes of markers with the baseline levels obtained on admittance to video-EEG. In the ECT study (IV) the patient population was small. The patient group was also heterogeneous and the samples were obtained after different ECT sessions in the course of the treatment. In this study we assessed possible effects of one session of ECT on serum levels of markers. Some patients had high S-100b levels before ECT but no explanation for that could be found. Possibly, depression itself can be a reason for these high levels (Arts et al. 2006). Propofol, which was used in half of our patients, can shorten seizure duration during ECT (Gábor et al., 2007). However, the changes in biomarkers did not correlate with the duration of seizures or energy used.

The assays used to determine NSE and S-100b concentrations in studies I and IV differed from the one used in study III. Because of the different determination methods the absolute levels are not comparable between the two assays.

2. NSE levels in epileptic and depressive patients

A single uncomplicated tonic-clonic seizure did not induce elevation of the mean CSF or serum NSE obtained in 24 hours after the seizure in patients with newly onset seizures. Two of the three patients who did have increased values had complicated seizures. CSF NSE has been markedly elevated after prolonged seizures in humans and in animal models. Also after single brief seizures CSF NSE increased at 10 to 30 minutes and again at 4 h returning to control levels at 24 h in rat (Oses 2004). Only a few patients have had increased CSF levels after brief seizures measured a few days after the seizure (Jacobi 1988) or immediately after methohexital infusion (Rabinowicz et al. 1994). These patients had a history of epilepsy and in Rabinowicz's study (1994) the patients

were undergoing epilepsy surgery, whereas we evaluated patients who were nonmedicated and had the first (or second) epileptic seizure in their life. Single serum measurement of NSE was not increased in our patients with no history of epilepsy and CSF and serum levels did not correlate. NSE is thought to be released into the CSF compartment by an increase in permeability of the BBB. The rate of release and clearance of NSE from CSF and serum is largely unknown. As our samples were taken within 24 h after seizure (mean 15.1 h), possible elevations after that time went undetected especially in serum samples.

Serial measurements of serum NSE showed significant changes in refractory epilepsy patients with TLE. NSE levels started to increase at 3 h after seizure and the time to reach maximum was 10.2 hours in the TLE group. The postictal levels in XTLE showed an initial trend towards an increase at 3 hours, but it was not statistically significant. Other studies have found increases after brief seizure in some patients. In a study similar to ours, NSE levels were increased in only a few of the patients, and the mean levels of NSE were not significantly increased (Tumani et al. 1999). The authors did not compare the results between the TLE and XTLE groups, nor did they measure baseline levels but compared the postictal NSE levels with those of control subjects. Furthermore, the levels in the complex partial seizure (CPS) and SGTCS groups did not differ, but the NSE values peaked later in the SGTCS group (3 h vs 1 h) (Tumani et al. 1999). In one study, which did not provide information on the localization of the seizure focus, elevated serum NSE levels were observed in altogether 34 % of patients (both CPS and SGTCS) (Willert et al. 2004). Another study found increased serum levels of NSE both after single CPS (3 of 9) and single SGTCS (4 of 4) (Rabinowicz et al. 1996). Only five of our patients had SGTCS and their NSE levels did not explain the changes observed.

Most of the patients had CPS as index seizure, indicating that CPS can produce marked elevations of this marker. There is evidence that high lifetime seizure number and longer duration of epilepsy contributes to more severe neuronal damage (Van Paesschen et al. 1997; Salmenperä et al. 2001; Kälviäinen and Salmenperä 2002; Mathern et al. 2002). We did not find a correlation with the duration of epilepsy and the increase of NSE in TLE.

Serial measurements of serum NSE after ECT remained unchanged, suggesting that ECT does not induce neuronal injury. This is in accordance with previous studies, which have shown no systematic ECT-induced serum NSE changes (Greffe et al. 1996; Berrouschot et al. 1997; Agelink et al. 2001). Recent animal studies suggest that ECS, the experimental analogue of ECT, causes both structural and functional changes within the hippocampal formation (Lamont et al. 2005). Repeated ECS induces sprouting of mossy fibers (Gombos et al. 1999) along with neurogenesis (Scott et al. 2000) and increased expression of NSE (Rasmussen et al. 1994). Clinical relevance of these findings is not clear. There is a report of a post-mortem brain study on a patient with over 1250 ECTs. No gross or histological signs of brain damage or development of epilepsy was observed (Lippman et al. 1985).

It is still controversial whether epileptic seizures, especially brief recurrent seizures, damage the brain. There is no question that some seizures affect the structure of the brain and that in some patients epilepsy becomes progressive, more commonly in TLE. Whether the damage seen in the hippocampus in epilepsy patients is the cause or the consequence of TLE is a fundamental question. There is evidence that the damage in the medial temporal lobe may be either of these (Kälviäinen and Salmenperä 2002; Mathern

et al. 2002). The levels of NSE did not increase in our patients with single uncomplicated tonic-clonic newly onset seizures but were clearly increased in refractory TLE patients with repeated seizures. Mesial temporal structures are more prone to damage than are other areas of the brain (Holmes 2002). Thus, the risk of seizure-related neuronal injury may be different in TLE from that in XTLE or in newly onset seizures. The increase in NSE after seizure was transient and less than that seen in severe brain damaging conditions, such as TBI and stroke. The increase in NSE in epileptic patients might indicate a more subtle and transient injury. Exposure to repetitive mild head injuries is considered to have cumulative effects that may result in long-term cognitive dysfunction (Weber 2007; Shuttleworth-Rdwards and Radloff 2008). Similarly, in patients with refractory epilepsy the cumulative effect of even transient brain injury associated with seizures might become clinically significant in the course of years.

3. S-100b levels in epileptic and depressive patients

Single uncomplicated tonic-clonic seizure did not induce increase in the mean CSF or serum S100b after the seizure in patients with newly onset seizures. Few studies have measured serum S-100b after single seizures with similar findings (Büttner et al., 1999; Leutmezer et al., 2002). Previously, no measurements of CSF S-100b have been made after epileptic seizures.

The change in the serum levels of S-100b was less pronounced and of shorter duration than the change in NSE in refractory TLE patients with repeated seizures. Peak levels of S-100b in TLE-related seizures seemed to occur at 6 hours postictally. In contrast to our findings, the only previous study of S-100b in TLE patients in video-EEG did not find changes in S-100b (Leutmezer et al. 2002). As the number of patients was small (n=10), different results might be explained by a random sampling effect and differences in the methods used for biochemical analyses. In our patients, S-100b levels were more increased at 3 h after SGTCS than after CPS (0.135 μ g/L vs. 0.059 μ g/L). The number of SGTCS patients was small, so no conclusions can be made based on this finding.

The median change in S-100b was not statistically significant in patients after ECT, which supports previous evidence of the safety of ECT. There was, however, a transient increase in the S-100b levels in four out of the ten patients studied. Only one previous study using S-100b measurements has found a rise in S-100b levels at 1 and 3 hours after ECT (Arts et al. 2006). Previous studies used different time points for S-100b measurements (Agelink et al. 2001, Zachrisson et al. 2000; Arts et al. 2006), so possible transient changes may not have been detected in these studies compared with our more frequent sampling. We did not see substantial changes in S-100b that would indicate brain damage but rather more subtle and transient increases possibly indicating glial activation. Agelink et al. (2001) reported that patients with higher post-ECT values of NSE and S-100b showed the best cognitive test performance. These findings have led to a suggestion that ECT-induced release of S-100b may promote neural plasticity and may play a part in mediating the antidepressant and cognitive effects of ECT (Agelink et al. 2001; Arts et al. 2006). Supporting this, in our study, high S-100b levels at 2 h and 6 h correlated with the treatment response and also the increase at 2 h with a reduction of BDI scores. The median changes in S-100b concentrations within the ECT group, according to our present results, seem to be not as important as changes associated with ECT treatment responses. Newer findings report that S-100b might be used as a

biomarker for mood disorders and their treatment (Schroeter et al 2008). Our results support this hypothesis, as the most important finding of our study was the relation between S-100b and a positive treatment effect.

Neuronal function is tightly modulated and controlled by a number of non-neuronal cells. Many of these are glial cells, which participate actively in synapse development and in regulation of BBB function, and play prominent roles in neurodegenerative processes (Schwarcz 2008). S-100b has been used as a marker of brain damage and pathological concentrations have been found in many CNS disorders (Sen and Belli 2007). Recently, S-100b has gained increasing interest as a marker of glial functions. Newer studies suggest that it could be a marker of beneficial reactions and be even neuroprotective. In pathological conditions it would be useful to determine both S-100b and NSE concentrations. With unaltered NSE levels, increased S-100b levels would rather indicate glial activation and, depending on S-100b concentration, the effects could be either trophic or toxic.

4. T-tau, P-tau and P-tau/T-tau ratio after epileptic seizures

CSF tau levels after seizures were within the normal range in patients with idiopathic or probably symptomatic (cryptogenic) epilepsy, and abnormal levels were only found in patients with either acute or remote symptomatic seizures. It seems that epileptic seizure itself does not increase CSF tau if there is no other profound pathology in CNS. There is only one case report based on a single epilepsy patient who was found to have a transient elevation of CSF tau measured four days after the seizure compared with the baseline value (Matsui et al. 2007). This patient had a history of idiopathic normal-pressure hydrocephalus with dementia. It is possible that the increase in CSF tau in this patient was the result of both GTCS and underlying pathology. To our knowledge seizure-related changes of CSF tau have not otherwise been studied in humans. The reduction of endogenous tau levels protected mice against excitotoxicity in an AD mouse model (Roberson et al. 2007), indicating that tau may mediate excitotoxicity. Therefore high CSF tau levels after seizure could mark a poorer prognosis. In our patients, the number of seizures or SE did not correlate with the levels of tau.

It has been suggested that elevated CSF T-tau levels are useful in differentiating AD from normal ageing and depression (Blennow et al. 2006). However, an overlap exists with other neurodegenerative disorders or conditions with brain parenchymal damage (Blennow et al. 1995; Kapaki et al. 2007). P-tau is a more specific marker for AD reflecting the phosphorylation state of tau. Consistent with this, P-tau levels were not increased in stroke or in CJD disease (Hesse 2001; Riemenschneider 2003). One of our patients was diagnosed with AD and had clear T-tau and P-tau abnormalities. Otherwise, three patients had slightly abnormal P-tau levels but no symptoms suggesting AD pathology. All our patients with abnormal T-tau levels had symptomatic etiologies for epileptic seizures. These included alcoholic encephalopathy, CNS infections and various remote symptomatic causes. Previously, elevated CSF T-tau levels have been noted in patients with alcohol-related cognitive disorders and in chronic alcoholics with thiamine deficiency. Degeneration of nucleus basalis may develop through formation of neurofibrillary tangles (Cullen and Halliday 1995). Increased levels of tau have also been reported in patients with cerebral infections. In HIV-infected patients who had cerebral infections and necrosis, elevated tau levels were found in 35 % (Green et al.

2000). Patients with viral encephalitis and bacterial meningitis with meningoencephalopathic complications had elevated tau levels (Süssmuth et al. 2001). This suggests that tau may be a marker for parenchymal involvement in cerebral infections.

In Kapaki's study (2007) sensitivity and specificity of P-tau/T-tau ratio were better in the discrimination of AD versus controls than P-tau alone. The best cutoff level for this ratio was \geq 0.169. Most of our patients with abnormal T-tau levels had quite low P-tau and also low P-tau/T-tau ratio, indicating rather non-specific neurodegenerative disorder or axonal damage. Thus, P-tau/T-tau ratio does not seem to be a useful marker in discriminating pathological conditions in this patient population.

The rate of release of tau in acute brain-damaging conditions is largely unknown. CSF tau showed an increase at 2-3 days after acute stroke (Hesse et al. 2000; 2001) but in TBI and brain injury after aortic surgery the increase in tau levels started earlier, during the first day (Zemlan et al. 1999; Franz et al. 2003; Shiiya et al. 2004). The time interval between LP and seizure varied (mean 14.4 h) in our patients but no correlation between tau levels and the time interval was observed.

CSF T-tau seems to be a non-specific marker of brain damage, especially in neurodegenerative disorders and axonal damage. P-tau is a more specific marker for neurofibrillary pathology. Abnormal CSF T-tau levels may be found in patients with seizures. However, acute seizure without profound pathology in CNS itself does not seem to lead to elevation of CSF T-tau. Acute symptomatic seizures due to alcohol withdrawal are among the most common etiologies in emergency departments,

65

(Forsgren et al. 1996). CSF tau measurement could provide a tool in assessing these patients for further evaluation. The presence of increased CSF tau in a patient with epileptic seizure increases the probability of symptomatic cause. Further etiologic investigations are warranted in such patients. Elevated levels of tau in epileptic patients might implicate more frequent follow-up in these patients. Abnormal tau levels can predict further development of dementia disorder.

5. Future implications

Epilepsy and epileptic seizures affect a substantial number of people world wide. Although 60-70 % of patients with epilepsy become seizure free, a considerable proportion of epilepsy patients suffer from refractory epilepsy and have recurrent seizures. Some of them have progressive features such as increasing seizure frequency and cognitive decline. There is no question that some seizures affect the structure of the brain, induce neuronal damage and chronic changes. Our results support earlier observations. The main finding of our study was that single uncomplicated seizures do not induce elevations of biomarkers but repeated seizures, especially in TLE, do. It would be beneficial to be able to identify those patients who are at risk for damage and progression. This information might have a reflection on treatment, i.e. proceeding to surgery or vagus nerve stimulation earlier in these patients. NSE and S-100b might prove useful in identification of more severe forms of epilepsies. A proportion of refractory epilepsy patients admitted to video-EEG monitoring would be further selected for epilepsy surgery. Prospective studies reporting seizure type, seizure number and the levels of biomarkers in patients undergoing epilepsy surgery would permit precise correlations between clinical seizure types, biomarkers and neuronal death mechanisms. This might offer novel targets for therapies aimed at reducing seizure-induced damage_and epileptogenesis.

ECT is considered a safe and effective treatment. However, not all patients with treatment resistant depression benefit from this treatment. A marker that would single out those patients who would gain a positive treatment effect would be of great interest. A prospective study of S-100b with a more homogeneous patient group admitted to ECT is needed.

Experimental animal studies have shown that complex reorganization occurs during epileptogenesis, such as neurogenesis, glial proliferation, axonal plasticity, inflammation, and neuronal loss. There is also evidence of continuing reorganization due to recurrent seizures (Pitkänen and Sutula 2002). Seizure-induced plasticity in neural circuits is not always harmful and can be even protective (Sutula 2004). The search for molecular mechanisms underlying seizure-related neuronal injury and progressive brain-function decline in patients with seizures will reveal opportunities to prevent both structural damage and progression in epileptic seizures (Pitkänen and Sutula 2002). Reliable and well-validated biomarkers for epilepsy offer the potential to provide a window into the disease mechanism and its progression and to potentially generate therapeutic targets for treatment. In the future, searching for more specific biomarkers, which might be found among indicators of neurogenesis, apoptosis or inflammation and cytokines, is needed.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

1. Single tonic-clonic seizures are not associated with elevations of NSE or S-100b in patients with no history of epilepsy, but localization-related refractory epilepsy induces increase in these biomarkers. This finding indicates that uncomplicated brief newly onset seizures may not induce neuronal or glial damage. It is possible that the effect of seizures in refractory epilepsy with repeated seizures differs from that in newly onset single seizures.

2. The patients with TLE showed elevation of both markers of brain damage, NSE and S-100b, after epileptic seizure, whereas in XTLE the changes were shorter in duration and of no significance. The levels of NSE peaked approximately at 10 hours. It is possible that in refractory TLE the sensitivity to damage is different than in other localization-related epilepsies, and the subtle damage induced by recurrent brief seizures over the years contributes to the progression of the disorder.

3. Epileptic seizures with no recognizable etiologic factor do not induce elevation of Ttau or P-tau protein. However, some patients with epileptic seizures with different underlying etiologies have increased levels of T-tau, suggesting that these patients have a neurodegenerative disorder or axonal damage due to various neurological conditions.

4. ECT does not seem to induce neuronal injury determined by measurements of NSE and S-100b. Clear transient elevation of S-100b after ECT in four out of ten patients suggests glial activation, and high S-100b levels correlated with treatment response. This activation could be neurotrophic in nature and the antidepressant effect of ECT may be mediated by glial activation.

68

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was carried out at the University of Tampere Medical School and in the Department of Neurology and Rehabilitation of Tampere University Hospital.

I owe a huge debt of gratitude to my two supervisors. Professor Tapani Keränen, M.D., introduced me to the study of epilepsy and suggested this topic for my thesis. I am deeply grateful for his professional guidance and his personal involvement in both my clinical and scientific work. My other supervisor, Docent Jaana Suhonen, M.D., MBA, has invariably given me valuable advice and sympathetic encouragement well beyond the call of professional tutoring; to her go my heartfelt thanks.

Throughout my work, Docent Jukka Peltola, M.D., has been generous with his encouragement and most liberal with sharing his scientific expertise. My most sincere thanks are also due to Professor Tuula Pirttilä, M.D., for her helpful advice and guidance.

I wish to record here my thanks to Professor Harry Frey, M.D., Professor Irina Elovaara, M.D., Docent Gabor Molnar, M.D., and Professor Esa Leinonen, M.D. Their support has been invaluable in making this research possible.

Professor Risto O. Roine, M.D., and Docent Reetta Kälviäinen, M.D., have carefully reviewed this thesis before its publication and have offered valuable comments on how to improve it. They have also helped me prepare for the ordeal of my dissertation. For all of this, thank you both very much! I owe my warmest thanks to my co-authors and collaborators: Tiina Alapirtti, M.D., Heini Huhtala, Ph.D., Päivi Holm, Ph.D., Janne Hulkkonen, M.D., Martti Huuhka, M.D., Seppo Laine, M.Sc., and Kai Lehtimäki, M.D. I also thank my colleague Marja-Liisa Sumelahti, M.D., of the University of Tampere and all my colleagues in the Department of Neurology of Tampere University Hospital for the many fruitful discussions we have had and the many helpful suggestions I have received over the years. My fellowstudents, Päivi Hannula, M.D., and Krista Karstila, M.D., can empathize with my endeavors, having gone through the same process alongside with mine; without this reciprocal support the progress of this work would have been much more laborious.

Over the years, this work would hardly have been possible without the loving support and understanding of my husband Pekka and our children Kristian and Petra. My parents have also supported and encouraged me in every way. My special thanks go to my father Pekka Tenkilä, M.A., for revising the English of the original publications as well as this thesis and for the many sessions of mutual learning when he has taught me English and I have taught him medicine. Moreover, my brother Arttu has been a great help with his much-needed computer skills.

This work has been supported by the Medical Research Fund of Tampere University Hospital.

Tampere, May 2009

Johanna Palmio

REFERENCES

Abraha HD, Butterworth RJ, Bath PM, Wassif WS, Garthwaite J, Sherwood RA (1997): Serum S-100 protein, relationship to clinical outcome in acute stroke. Ann Clin Biochem 34: 366-370.

Adachi N, Kanemoto K, Muramatsu R, Kato M, Akanuma N, Ito M, Kawasaki J, Onuma T (2005): Intellectual prognosis of status epilepticus in adult epilepsy patients: analysis with Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-revised. Epilepsia 46: 1502-1509.

Agelink MW, Andrich J, Postert T, Würzinger U, Zeit T, Klotz P, Przuntek H (2001): Relation between electroconvulsive therapy, cognitive side effects, neuron specific enolase, and protein S-100. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 71: 394-396.

Allan SM and Rothwell NJ (2001): Cytokines and acute neurodegeneration. Nat Rev Neurosci 2: 734-744.

Altar CA, Laeng P, Jurata LW, Brockman JA, Lemire A, Bullard J, Bukhman YV, Young TA, Charles V, Palfreyman MG (2004): Electroconvulsive seizures regulate gene expression of distinct neurotrophic signaling pathways. J Neurosci 24: 2667-2677.

American Psychiatric Association (1994): Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 4th ed. American Psychiatry Press: Washington, DC.

American Psychiatric Association (2000): Practise guideline for the treatment of patients with major depressive disorder. In: Practise guideline for the treatment of psychiatric disorders. Compendium 2000. 1st edition pp. 413-495. American Psychiatric Association, Washington, DC.

American Psychiatric Association (2001): The Practice of ECT: Recommendations for treatment, training and privileging. 2nd ed. American Psychiatric Press: Washington, DC.

Anand N and Stead LG (2005): Neuron-specific enolase as a marker for acute ischemic stroke: a systematic review. Cerebrovasc Dis 20: 213-219.

Andreazza AC, Cassini C, Rosa AR, Leite MC, de Almeida LM, Nardin P, Cunha AB, Ceresér KM, Santin A, Gottfried C, Salvador M, Kapczinski F, Gonçalves CA (2007): Serum S100B and antioxidant enzymes in bipolar patients. J Psychiatr Res 41: 523-529.

Arolt V, Peters M, Erfurth A, Wiesmann M, Missler U, Rudolf S, Kirchner H, Rothermundt M (2003): S100B and response to treatment in major depression: a pilot study. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 13: 235-239.

Arts B, Peters M, Ponds R, Honig A, Menheere P, van Os J (2006): S100 and impact of ECT on depression and cognition. J ECT 22: 206-212.

Avanzini G and Franceschetti S (2003): Cellular biology of epileptogenesis. Lancet Neurol 2: 33-42.

Babb TL and Brown WJ (1986): Neuronal, dendritic, and vascular profiles of human temporal lobe epilepsy correlated with cellular physiology in vivo. Adv Neurol 44: 949-966.

Bahl JM, Heegaard NH, Falkenhorst G, Laursen H, Høgenhaven H, Mølbak K, Jespersgaard C, Hougs L, Waldemar G, Johannsen P, Christiansen M (2008): The diagnostic efficiency of biomarkers in sporadic Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease compared to Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging *Epub ahead of print*

Beach TG, Woodhurst WB, MacDonald DB, Jones MW (1995): Reactive microglia in hippocampal sclerosis associated with human temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurosci Lett 191: 27-30.

Berg AT, Levy SR, Novotny EJ, Shinnar S (1996): Predictors of intractable epilepsy in childhood: a case-control study. Epilepsia 37: 24-30.

Berrouschot J, Rolle K, Kühn HJ, Schneider D (1997): Serum neuron-specific enolase levels do not increase after electroconvulsive therapy. J Neurol Sci 150: 173-176.

Beyer JL, Weiner RD, Glenn MD (1998): Electroconvulsive therapy, a programmed text. 2nd ed. American Psychiatric Press: Washington, DC.

Blennow K, Wallin A, Ekman R (1994): Neuron specific enolase in cerebrospinal fluid: a biochemical marker for neuronal degeneration in dementia disorders? J Neural Transm Park Dis Dement Sect 8: 183-191.

Bloomfield SM, McKinney J, Smith L, Brisman J (2007): Reliability of S100B in predicting severity of central nervous system injury. Neurocrit Care 6:121-138.

Borusiak P and Herbold S (2003): Serum neuron-specific enolase in children with febrile seizures: time profile and prognostic implications. Brain Dev 25: 272-274.

Brodie MJ and Kwan P (2002): Staged approach to epilepsy management. Neurology 58: S2-S8.

Buerger K, Ewers M, Pirttilä T, Zinkowski R, Alafuzoff I, Teipel SJ, DeBernardis J, Kerkman D, McCulloch C, Soininen H, Hampel H (2006): CSF phosphorylated tau protein correlates with neocortical neurofibrillary pathology in Alzheimer's disease. Brain 129: 3035-3041.

Büttner T, Lack B, Jäger M, Wünsche W, Kuhn W, Müller T, Przuntek H, Postert T (1999): Serum levels of neuron-specific enolase and s-100 protein after single tonicclonic seizures. J Neurol 246: 459-461.

Böttiger BW, Möbes S, Glätzer R, Bauer H, Gries A, Bärtsch P, Motsch J, Martin E (2001): Astroglial protein S-100 is an early and sensitive marker of hypoxic brain damage and outcome after cardiac arrest in humans. Circulation 103: 2694-2698.
Calev A, Cohen R, Tubi N, Nigal D, Shapira B, Kugelmass S, Lerer B (1991): Disorientation and bilateral moderately supratreshold titrated ECT. Convulsive Ther 7: 99-110.

Casmiro M, Maitan S, De Pasquale F, Cova V, Scarpa E, Vignatelli L, on behalf of the NSE Study Group (2005): Cerebrospinal fluid and serum neuron-specific enolase concentrations in a normal population. Eur J Neurol 12: 369-374.

Causation (2003). Actiology of epilepsy. Epilepsia 44:S21-22.

Cavazos JE, Das I, Sutula TP (1994): Neuronal loss induced in limbic pathways by kindling: evidence for induction of hippocampal sclerosis by repeated brief seizures. J Neurosci 14: 3106-3121.

Collaborative Group for the Study of Epilepsy (1992): Prognosis of epilepsy in newly referred patients: a multicenter prospective study of the effects of monotherapy on the long-term course of epilepsy. Epilepsia 33: 45-51.

Correale J, Rabinowicz AL, Heck CN, Smith TD, Loskota WJ, DeGiorgio CM (1998): Status epilepticus increases CSF levels of neuron-specific enolase and alters the bloodbrain barrier. Neurology 50: 1388-1391.

Cullen KM, Halliday GM (1995): Neurofibrillary tangles in chronic alcoholics. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 21: 312-318.

Cunningham RT, Young IS, Winder J, O'Kane MJ, McKinstry S, Johnston CF, Dolan OM, Hawkins SA, Buchanan KD (1991): Serum neurone specific enolase (NSE) levels as an indicator of neuronal damage in patients with cerebral infarction. Eur J Clin Invest 21: 497-500.

Daras MD, Bladin PF, Eadie MJ, Millet D (2008): Epilepsy: Historical perspectives. In: Epilepsy A Comprehensive Textbook. Engel J Jr, Pedley TA (Eds). 2nd ed. LWW, Philadelphia, pp. 13-39.

Dauberschmidt R, Marangos PJ, Zinsmeyer J, Bender V, Klages G, Gross J (1983): Severe head trauma and the changes of concentration of neuron-specific enolase in plasma and in cerebrospinal fluid. Clin Chim Acta 131: 165-170.

DeGiorgio CM, Tomiyasu U, Gott PS, Treiman D (1992): Hippocampal cell loss in human status epilepticus. Epilepsia 333: 23-27.

DeGiorgio CM, Correale JD, Gott PS, Ginsburg DL, Bracht KA, Smith T, Boutros R, Loskota WJ, Rabinowicz AL (1995): Serum neuron-specific enolase in human status epilepticus. Neurology 45: 1134-1137.

DeGiorgio CM, Gott PS, Rabinowicz AL, Heck CN, Smith TD, Correale JD (1996): Neuron-specific enolase, a marker of acute neuronal injury, is increased in complex partial status epilepticus. Epilepsia 37: 606-609. DeGiorgio CM, Heck CN, Rabinowicz AL, Gott PS, Smith T, Correale J (1999): Serum neuron-specific enolase in the major subtypes of status epilepticus. Neurology 52: 746-749.

Delacourte A (1994): Pathological tau proteins of Alzheimer's disease as a biochemical marker of neurofibrillary degeneration. Biomed Pharmacother 48: 287-295.

Delgado PL (2000): Depression: the case for a monoamine deficiency. J Clin Psychiatry 61: S7-S11.

Devanand DP, Dwork AJ, Hutchinson ER, Bolwig TG, Sackeim HA (1994): Does ECT alter brain structure? Am J Psychiatry 151: 957-970.

Dietrich DE, Hauser U, Peters M, Zhang Y, Wiesmann M, Hasselmann M, Rudolf S, Jüngling O, Kirchner H, Münte TF, Arolt V, Emrich HM, Johannes S, Rothermundt M (2004): Target evaluation processing and serum levels of nerve tissue protein S100B in patients with remitted major depression. Neurosci Lett 354: 69-73.

Dodrill CB and Wilensky AJ (1990): Intellectual impairment as an outcome of status epilepticus. Neurology 40: S23-S27.

Dodrill CB (2002): Progressive cognitive decline in adolescents and adults with epilepsy. Prog Brain Res 135: 397-408.

Doherty MJ, Rostad SW, Kraemer DL, Vossler DG, Haltiner AM (2007): Neocortical gliosis in temporal lobe epilepsy: gender-based differences. Epilepsia 48: 1455-1459.

Donato R (2001): S100: a multigenic family of calcium-modulated proteins of the EFhand type with intracellular and extracellular functional roles. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 33: 637-668.

Donato R (2003): Intracellular and extracellular roles of S100 proteins. Microsc Res Tech 60: 540-551.

Duncan JS (2002): Seizure-induced neuronal injury. Human data. Neurology 59: S15-S20.

During MJ and Spencer DD (1993): Extracellular hippocampal glutamate and spontaneous seizure in the conscious human brain. Lancet 341: 1607-1610.

Dyck RH, Bogoch II, Marks A, Melvin NR, Teskey GC (2002): Enhanced epileptogenesis in S100B knockout mice. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 106: 22-29.

Engel J Jr (2001): A proposed diagnostic scheme for people with epileptic seizures and with epilepsy: report of the ILAE Task Force on Classification and Terminology. Epilepsia 42: 796-803.

Eriksson KJ and Koivikko MJ (1997): Status epilepticus in children: aetiology, treatment, and outcome. Dev Med Child Neurol 39: 652-658.

Fink M (1984): Meduna and the origins of convulsive therapy. Am J Psychiatry 141: 1034-1041.

Foerch C, Singer OC, Neumann-Haefelin T, du Mesnil de Rochemont R, Steinmetz H, Sitzer M (2005): Evaluation of serum S100B as a surrogate marker for long-term outcome and infarct volume in acute middle cerebral artery infarction. Arch Neurol. 62: 1130-1134.

Foerch C, Wunderlich MT, Dvorak F, Humpich M, Kahles T, Goertler M, Alvarez-Sabín J, Wallesch CW, Molina CA, Steinmetz H, Sitzer M, Montaner J (2007): Elevated serum S100B levels indicate a higher risk of hemorrhagic transformation after thrombolytic therapy in acute stroke. Stroke 38: 2491-2495.

Forsgren L, Beghi E, Õun A, Sillanpää M (2005): The epidemiology of epilepsy in Europe - a systematic review. Eur J Neurol 12: 245-253.

Forsgren L, Bucht G, Eriksson S, Bergmark L (1996): Incidence and clinical characterization of unprovoked seizures in adults: a prospective population-based study. Epilepsia 37: 224-229.

Fountain NB and Freeman JM (2006): EEG is an essential clinical tool: pro and con. Epilepsia 47: S23-S25.

Fountain NB and Lothman EW (1995): Pathophysiology of status epilepticus. J Clin Neurophysiol 12: 326-342.

Franz G, Beer R, Kampfl A, Engelhardt K, Schmutzhardt E, Ulmer H, Deisenhammer F (2003): Amyloid beta 1-42 and tau in cerebrospinal fluid after severe traumatic brain injury. Neurology 60: 1457-1461.

Gerlai R and Roder J (1996): Spatial and nonspatial learning in mice: effects of S100 beta overexpression and age. Neurobiol Learn Mem 66: 143-154.

Gombos Z, Spiller A, Cottrell GA, Racine RJ, McIntyre Burnham W (1999): Mossy fiber sprouting induced by repeated electroconvulsive shock seizures. Brain Res 844: 28-33.

Gould TD, Gray NE, Manji HK (2003): Cellular neurobiology of severe mood and anxiety disorders. In: Molecular neurobiology for the clinician. Ed. Charney DS. American Psychiatry Publishing Inc. Arlington.

Greffe J, Lemoine P, Lacroix C, Brunon AM, Terra JL, Dalery J, Bernier E, Soares-Boucaud I, Rochet T, Leduc TA, Balvay G, Mathieu P (1996) : Increased serum levels of neuron-specific enolase in epileptic patients and after electroconvulsive therapy – a preliminary report. Clin Chim Acta 244: 199-208.

Green A, Giovannoni G, Hall-Craggs M, Thompson E, Miller R (2000): Cerebrospinal fluid tau concentrations in HIV infected patients with suspected neurological disease. Sex Transm Infect 76: 443-446.

Gurnett CA, Landt M, Wong M (2003): Analysis of cerebrospinal fluid glial fibrillary acidic protein after seizures in children. Epilepsia 44: 1455-1458.

Hasegawa D, Orima H, Fujita M, Hashizume K, Tanaka T (2002): Complex partial status epilepticus induced by a microinjection of kainic acid into unilateral amygdala in dogs and its brain damage. Brain Res 955: 174-182.

Hauser WA, Annegers JF, Rocca WA (1996): Descriptive epidemiology of epilepsy: contributions of population-based studies from Rochester, Minnesota. Mayo Clin Proc 71: 576-586.

Hauser WA and Beghi E (2008): First seizure definitions and worldwide incidence and mortality. Epilepsia 49: S8-S12.

Hayakata T, Shiozaki T, Tasaki O, Ikegawa H, Inoue Y, Toshiyuki F, Hosotubo H, Kieko F, Yamashita T, Tanaka H, Shimazu T, Sugimoto H (2004): Changes in CSF S100B and cytokine concentrations in early-phase severe traumatic brain injury. Shock 22: 102-107.

Helmstaedter C (2002): Effects of chronic epilepsy on declarative memory system. Prog Barin Res 135: 439-453.

Helmstaedter C (2007): Cognitive outcome of status epilepticus in adults. Epilepsia 48: S85-S90.

Henshall DC, Clark RSB, Adelson PD, Chen M, Watkins SC, Simon RP (2000): Alterations in bcl-2 and caspase gene family protein expression in human temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurology 55: 250-257.

Herrmann M, Curio N, Jost S, Wunderlich MT, Synowitz H, Wallesch CW (1999): Protein S-100B and neuron specific enolase as early neurobiochemical markers of the severity of traumatic brain injury. Restor Neurol Neurosci 14: 109-114.

Herrmann M, Vos P, Wunderlich MT, de Bruijn CH, Lamers KJ (2000): Release of glial tissue-specific proteins after acute stroke: A comparative analysis of serum concentrations of protein S-100B and glial fibrillary acidic protein. Stroke 31:2670-2677.

Herrmann M, Curio N, Jost S, Crubich C, Ebert AD, Fork ML, Synowitz H (2001): Release of biochemical markers of damage to neuronal and glial brain tissue is associated with short and long term neuropsychological outcome after traumatic brain injury. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 70: 95-100.

Herukka SK, Hallikainen M, Soininen H, Pirttilä T (2005): CSF A β 42 and tau or phosphorylated tau and prediction of progressive mild cognitive impairment. Neurology 64: 1294-1297.

Hesdorffer DC, Logroscino G, Cascino G, Annegers JF, Hauser WA (1998): Risk of unprovoked seizure after acute symptomatic seizure: effect of status epilepticus. Ann Neurol 44: 908-912.

Hesse C, Rosengren L, Vanmechelen E, Vandersticheke H, Jensen C, Davidsson P, Blennow K (2000): Cerebrospinal fluid markers for Alzheimer's disease evaluated after acute ischemic stroke. J Alzheimers Dis 2: 199-206.

Hesse C, Rosengren L, Andreasen N, Davidsson P, Vanderstichele H, Vanmechelen E, Blennow K (2001): Transient increase in total tau but not phospho-tau in human cerebrospinal fluid after acute stroke. Neurosci Lett 297: 187-190.

Holmes GL (2002): Seizure-induced neuronal injury. Animal data. Neurology 59: S3-S6.

Huuhka M (2005): Electroconvulsive Therapy in Major Depression: A Clinical and Genetic Approach. Academic Dissertation, University of Tampere, Medical School. Acta Universitatis Tamperensis 1102

Jabs R, Seifert G, Steinhäuser C (2008): Astrocytic function and its alteration in the epileptic brain. Epilepsia 49: S3-S12.

Jacobi C and Reiber H (1988): Clinical relevance of increased neuron-specific enolase concentration in cerebrospinal fluid. Clin Chim Acta 177: 49-54.

Jönsson H, Johnsson P, Höglund P, Alling C, Blomquist S (2000): Elimination of S100B and renal function after cardiac surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 14: 698-701.

Kapaki EN, Paraskevas GP, Tzerakis NG, Sfagos C, Seretis A, Kararizou E, Vassilopoulos D (2007): Cerebrospinal fluid tau, phospho- tau₁₈₁ and β -amyloid₁₋₄₂ in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus: a discrimination from Alzheimer's disease. Eur J Neurol 14: 168-173.

Karnak D, Beder S, Kayacan O, Ibis E, Oflaz G (2005): Neuron-specific enolase and lung cancer. Am J Clin Oncol 28: 586-590.

Kato K, Ishiguro Y, Suzuki F, Ito A, Semba R (1982): Distribution of nervous systemspecific forms of enolase in peripheral tissues. Brain Res 237: 441-448.

Keränen T, Riekkinen PJ, Sillanpää M (1989): Incidence and prevalence of epilepsy in adults in eastern Finland. Epilepsia 30: 413-421.

Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE (2005): Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62: 593-602.

Kleindienst A, Harvey HB, Rice AC, Muller C, Hamm RJ, Gaab MR, Bullock MR (2004): Intraventricular infusion of the neurotrophic protein S100B improves cognitive recovery after fluid percussion injury in the rat. J Neurotrauma 21: 541-547.

Kleindienst A, McGinn MJ, Harvey HB, Colello RJ, Hamm RJ, Bullock MR (2005): Enhanced hippocampal neurogenesis by intraventricular S100B infusion is associated

with improved cognitive recovery after traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 22: 645-655.

Kleindienst A, Hesse F, Bullock MR, Buchfelder M (2007): The neurotrophic protein S100B: value as a marker of brain damage and possible therapeutic implications. Prog Brain Res 161: 317-325.

Kotsopoulos I, de Krom M, Kessels F, Lodder J, Troost J, Twellaar M, van Merode T, Knottnerus A (2005): Incidence of epilepsy and predictive factors of epileptic and non-epileptic seizures. Seizure 14: 175-182.

Kwan P and Brodie MJ (2000): Early identification of refractory epilepsy. N Engl J Med 342: 314-319.

Kälviäinen R, Salmenperä T (2002): Do recurrent seizures cause neuronal damage? A series of studies with MRI volumetry in adults with partial epilepsy. Prog Brain Res 135: 279-295.

Lace GL, Wharton SB, Ince PG (2007): A brief history of tau: the evolving view of the microtubule-associated protein tau in neurodegenerative diseases. Clin Neuropathol 26: 43-58.

Lamers KJB, Vos P, Verbeek MM, Rosmalen F, van Geel WJA, van Engelen BGM (2003): Protein S-100B, neuron-specific enolase (NSE), myelin basic protein (MBP) and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and blood of neurological patients. Brain Res Bull 61: 261-264.

Lamont SR, Stanwell BJ, Hill R, Reid IC, Stewart CA (2005): Ketamine pre-treatment dissociates the effects of electroconvulsive stimulation on mossy fibre sprouting and cellular proliferation in the dentate gyrus. Brain Res 1053: 27-32.

Leutmezer F, Wagner O, Baumgartner C (2002): Serum S-100 protein is not a suitable marker in temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia 43: 1172-1174.

Lins H, Wallesch C-W, Wunderlich MT (2005): Sequential analyses of neurobiochemical markers of cerebral damage in cerebrospinal fluid and serum in CNS infections. Acta Neurol Scand 112: 303-308.

Lippman S, Manshadi M, Wehry M, Byrd R, Past W, Keller W, Schuster J, Elam S, Meyer D, O'Daniel R (1985): 1,250 electroconvulsive treatments without evidence of brain injury. Br J Psychiatry 147: 203 - 204.

MacAllister WS and Schaffer SG (2007): Neuropsychological Deficits in Childhood Epilepsy Syndromes. Neuropsychol Rev 17: 427-444.

Machado-Vieira R, Lara DR, Portela LVC, Gonçalves CA, Soares JC, Kapczinski F, Souza DO (2002): Elevated serum S100B protein in drug-free bipolar patinets during first manic episode: a pilot study. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 12: 269-272.

Mandelkow E-M, Biernat J, Drewes G, Gutske N, Trinczek B, Mandelkow E (1995): Tau domains, phosphorylation, and interactions with microtubules. Neurobiol Aging 16: 355-363.

Martens P, Raabe A, Johnsson P (1998): Serum S-100 and neuron-specific enolase for prediction of regaining consciousness after global cerebral ischemia. Stroke 29: 2363-2366.

Matsui T, Maruyama M, Matsushita S, Arai H, Higuchi S (2007): A transient increase in cerebrospinal fluid tau level after epileptic seizure in an elderly patient. J Am Geriatr Soc 55: 2096-2097.

Mathern GW, Adelson PD, Cahan LD, Leite JP (2002): Hippocampal neuron damage in human epilepsy: Meyer's hypothesis revisited. Prog Brain Res 135: 237-251.

Mathern GW, Pretorius JK, Babb TL (1995): Influence of the type of initial precipitating injury and at what age it occurs on course and outcome in patients with temporal lobe seizures. J Neurosurg 82: 220-227.

Meduna LJ (1936): New methods of medical treatment of schizophrenia. Arch Neurol Psychiatry 35: 361-363.

Milgram NW, Yearwood T, Khurgel M, Ivy GO, Racine R (1991): Changes in inhibitory processes in the hippocampus following recurrent seizures induced by systemic administration of kainic acid. Brain Res 551: 236-246.

Missler U, Wiesmann M, Friedrich C, Kaps M (1997): S-100 protein and neuronspecific enolase concentrations in blood as indicators of infarction volume and prognosis in acute ischemic stroke. Stroke 28: 1956–1960.

Müller K, Elverland A, Romner B, Waterloo K, Langbakk B, Undén J, Ingebrigtsen T (2006): Analysis of protein S-100B in serum: a methodological study. Clin Chem Lab Med 44: 1111-1114.

Müller K, Townend W, Biasca N, Undén J, Waterloo K, Romner B, Ingerbrigtsen T (2007): S100B serum level predicts computed tomography findings after minor head injury. J Trauma 62: 1452-1456.

Nabbout R and Dulac O (2003): Epileptic Encephalopathies: A Brief Overview. J Clin Neurophysiol 20: 393-397.

Nash DL, Bellolio MF, Stead LG (2008): S100 as a marker of acute brain ischemia: a systematic review. Neurocrit Care 8: 301-307.

Natsume J, Bernasconi N, Miyauchi M, Naiki M, Yokotsuka T, Sofue A, Bernasconi A (2007): Hippocampal volumes and diffusion-weighted image findings in children with prolonged febrile seizures. Acta Neurol Scand 186: S25-S28.

Nygaard Ø, Langbakk B, Romner B (1997): Age- and sex-related changes of S-100 protein concentrations in cerebrospinal fluid and serum in patients with no previous history of neurological disorder. Clin Chem 43: 541-543.

O'Regan ME and Brown JK (1998): Serum neuron specific enolase: a marker for neuronal dysfunction in children with continuous EEG epileptiform activity. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 2: 193-197.

Oses JP, Leke R, Portela LV, Lara DR, Schmidt AP, Casali EA, Wofchuk S, Souza DO, Sarkis JJ (2004): Biochemical brain markers and purinergic parameters in rat CSF after seizure induced by pentylenetetrazol. Brain Res Bull 64: 237-242.

Parent JM, Coulter DA, Bertram EH (2008): The effect of seizures on the brain. In: Epilepsy A Comprehensive Textbook. Engel J Jr, Pedley TA (Eds). 2nd ed. LWW, Philadelphia, pp. 481-493.

Parnetti L, Palumbo B, Cardinali L, Loreti F, Chionne F, Cecchetti R, Senin U (1995): Cerebrospinal fluid neuron-specific enolase in Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. Neurosci Lett 183: 43-45.

Pfeifer R, Börner A, Krack A, Sigusch HH, Surber R, Figulla HR (2005): Outcome after cardiac arrest: predictive values and limitations of the neuroproteins neuron-specific enolase and protein S-100 and the Glasgow Coma Scale. Resuscitation 65: 49-55.

Pitkänen A, Kharatishvili I, Karhunen H, Lukasiuk K, Immonen R, Nairismägi J, Gröhn O, Nissinen J (2007): Epileptogenesis in Experimental Models. Epilepsia 48: S13-S20.

Pitkänen A, Nissinen J, Nairismägi J, Lukasiuk K, Grohn OH, Miettinen R, Kauppinen R (2002): Progression of neuronal damage after status epilepticus and spontaneous seizures in a rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Prog Brain Res 135: 67-83.

Pitkänen A and Sutula TP (2002): Is epilepsy a progressive disorder? Prospects for new therapeutic approaches in temporal-lobe epilepsy. Lancet Neurol 1: 173-181.

Pleines UE, Morganti-Kossmann MC, Rancan M, Joller H, Trenz O, Kossmann T (2001): S-100 beta reflects the extent of injury and outcome, whereas neuronal specific enolase is a better indicator of neuroinflammation in patients with severe traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 18: 491-498.

Portela LVC, Tort ABL, Schaf DV, Ribeiro L, Nora DB, Walz R, Rotta LN, Silva CT, Busnello JV, Kapczinski F, Gonçalves CA, Souza DO (2002): The serum S100B concentration is age dependent. Clin Chem 48: 950-952.

Portela LV, Tort AB, Walz R, Bianchin M, Trevisol-Bittencourt PC, Wille PR, Cardoso RC, Ishida MM, vonWangenheim A, Grisard EC, Steindel M, Gonçalves CA, Souza DO (2003): Interictal serum S100B levels in chronic neurocysticercosis and idiopathic epilepsy. Acta Neurol Scand 108: 424-427.

Proper EA, Oestreicher AB, Jansen GH, Veelen CW, van Rijen PC, Gispen WH, de Graan PN (2000): Immunohistochemical characterization of mossy fibre sprouting in the

hippocampus of patients with pharmaco-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy. Brain 123: 19-30.

Rabinowicz A, Correale J, Couldwell W, DeGiorgio C (1994): CSF neuronspecific enolase after methohexital activation during electrocorticography. Neurology 44: 1167–1169.

Rabinowicz AL, Correale J, Boutros RB, Couldwell WT, Henderson CW, DeGiorgio CM (1996): Neuron-specific enolase is increased after single seizures during inpatient video/EEG monitoring. Epilepsia 37: 122-125.

Rasmussen CV, Kragh J, Bolwig TG, Jørgensen OS (1994): Repeated electroconvulsive shock selectively increases the expression of the neuron specific enolase in piriform cortex. Neurochem Res 19: 1527-1530.

Rech TH, Vieira SR, Nagel F, Brauner JS, Scalco R (2006): Serum neuron-specific enolase as early predictor of outcome after in-hospital cardiac arrest: a cohort study. Crit Care 10: R133.

Reisinger J, Höllinger K, Lang W, Steiner C, Winter T, Zeindlhofer E, Mori M, Schiller A, Lindorfer A, Wiesinger K, Siostrzonek P (2007): Prediction of neurological outcome after cardiopulmonary resuscitation by serial determination of serum neuron-specific enolase. Eur Heart J 28: 52-58.

Riemenschneider M, Wagenpfeil S, Vanderstichele H, Otto M, Wiltfang J, Kretzschmar H, Vanmechelen E, Förstl H, Kurz A (2003): Phospho-tau/total tau ratio in cerebrospinal fluid discriminates Creuzfeldt-Jakob disease from other dementias. Mol Psychiatry 8: 343-347.

Roberson ED, Scearce-Levie K, Palop JJ, Yan F, Cheng IH, Wu T, Gerstein H, Yu GQ, Mucke L (2007): Reducing endogenous tau ameliorates amyloid β -induced deficits in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model. Science 316: 750-754.

Rodrígues-Núñez A Cid E, Rodrígues-Carcía J, Camiña F, Rodrígues-Segade S, Castro-Gago M (2000): Cerebrospinal fluid purine metabolite and neuron-specific enolase concentrations after febrile seizures. Brain Dev 22: 427-431.

Roine R, Somer H, Kaste M, Viinikka L, Karonen SL (1989): Neurological outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Arch Neurol 46: 753–756.

Rose D, Fleischmann P, Wykes T, Leese M, Bindman J (2003) : Patient's perspectives on electroconvulsive therapy: systematic review. BMJ 326: 1363-1365.

Rosén H, Rosengren L, Herlitz J, Blomstrand C (1998): Increased serum levels of the S-100 protein are associated with hypoxic brain damage after cardiac arrest. Stroke 29: 473-477.

Rothermundt M, Peters M, Prehn JH, Arolt V (2003): S100B in brain damage and neurodegeneration. Microsc Res Tech 60: 614-632.

Royds J, Davies-Jones G, Lewtas N, Timperley W, Taylor CB (1983): Enolase isoenzymes in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with diseases of the nervous system. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 46: 1031–1036.

Sackeim HA, Prudic J, Devanand DP, Kiersky JE, Fitzsimons L, Moody BJ, McElhiney MC, Coleman EA, Settembrino JM (1993): Effect of stimulus intensity and electrode placement on the efficacy and cognitive effects of electroconvulsive therapy. N Engl J Med 328, 839-846.

Sackeim HA, Prudic J, Fuller R, Keilp J, Lavori PW, Olfson M (2007): The cognitive effects of electroconvulsive therapy in community settings. Neuropsychopharmacology 32: 244-254.

Salmenperä T, Kälviäinen R, Partanen K, Pitkänen A (2001): Hippocampal and amygdaloid damage in partial epilepsy: a cross-sectional MRI study of 241 patients. Epilepsy Res 46: 69-82.

Salmenperä T, Könönen M, Roberts N, Vanninen R, Pitkänen A, Kälviäinen R (2005): Hippocampal damage in newly diagnosed focal epilepsy: a prospective study. Neurology 64: 62-68.

Sankar R, Shin DH, Wasterlain CG (1997): Serum neuron-specific enolase is a marker for neuronal damage following status epilepticus in the rat. Epilepsy Res 28: 129-136.

Savola O, Pyhtinen J, Leino TK, Siitonen S, Niemelä O, Hillbom M (2004): Effects of head and extracranial injuries on serum protein S100B levels in trauma patients. J Trauma 56: 1229-1234.

Schmechel D, Marangos PJ, Zis AP, Brightman M, Goodwin FK (1978): Brain enolases as specific markers of neuronal and glial cells. Science 199: 313-315.

Schreiber SS, Sun N, Tocco G, Baudry M, DeGiorgio CM (1999): Expression of neuron-specific enolase in adult rat brain following status epilepticus. Exp Neurol 159: 329-331.

Schroeter ML, Abdul-Khaliq H, Diefenbacher A, Blasig IE (2002): S100B is increased in mood disorders and may be reduced by antidepressant treatment. NeuroReport 13: 1675-1678.

Schroeter ML, Abdul-Khaliq H, Krebs M, Diefenbacher A, Blasig IE (2008): Serum markers support disease-specific glial pathology in major depression. J Affect Disord 111: 271-280.

Schwarcz R (2008): Early glial dysfunction in epilepsy. Epilepsia 49: S1-S2.

Scott BW, Wojtowicz JM, Burnham WM (2000): Neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the rat following electroconvulsive shock seizures. Exp Neurol 165: 231-236.

Sen J and Belli A (2007): S100B in neuropathologic states: the CRP of the brain? J Neurosci Res 85: 1373-1380.

Sendrowski K, Sobaniec W, Sobaniec-Lotowska ME, Lewczuk P (2004): S-100 protein as marker of the blood-brain barrier disruption in children with internal hydrocephalus and epilepsy--a preliminary study. Rock Akad Med Bialymst 49:S236-S238.

Shiiya N, Kunihara T, Miyatake T, Matsuzaki K, Yasuda K (2004): Tau protein in the cerebrospinal fluid is a marker of brain injury after aortic surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 77: 2034-2038.

Shneker BF and Fountain NB (2003): Epilepsy. Dis Mon 49: 426-478.

Shuttleworth-Rdwards AB and Radloff SE (2008): Compromised visuomotor processing speed in players of Rugby Union from school through to the national adult level. Arch Clin Neuropsychol 23: 511-520.

Sillanpää M, Kälviäinen R, Klaukka T, Helenius H, Shinnar S (2006): Temporal changes in the incidence of epilepsy in Finland: nationwide study. Epilepsy Res 71:206-215.

Sillanpää M, Jalava M, Kaleva O, Shinnar S (1998): Long-term prognosis of seizures with onset in childhood. N Engl J Med 338: 1715-1722.

Sjögren M, Vanderstichele H, Ågren H, Zachrisson O, Edsbagge M, Wikkelsø C, Skoog I, Wallin A, Wahlund LO, Marcusson J, Nägga K, Andreasen N, Davidsson P, Vanmechelen E, Blennow K (2001): Tau and A β 42 in cerebrospinal fluid from healthy adults 21-93 years of age: establishment of reference values. Clin Chem 47:1776-1781.

Steinhoff B, Tumani H, Otto M, Mursch K, Wiltfang J, Herrendorf G, Bittermann H-J, Felgenhauer K, Paulus W, Markakis E (1999): Cisternal S-100 protein and neuron-specific enolase are elevated and site-specific markers in intractable temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 36: 75–82.

Stephen LJ, Kwan P, Brodie MJ (2001): Does the cause of localisation-related epilepsy influence the response to antiepileptic drug treatment? Epilepsia 42: 357-362.

Süssmuth S, Reiber H, Tumani H (2001): Tau protein in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF): a blood-CSF barrier related evaluation in patients with various neurological diseases. Neurosci Lett 300: 95-98.

Sutula T, Koch J, Golarai G, Watanabe Y, McNamara JO (1996): NMDA receptor dependence of kindling and mossy fiber sprouting: evidence that the NMDA receptor regulates patterning of hippocampal circuits in the adult brain. J Neurosci 16: 7398-7406.

Sutula TP (2004): Mechanisms of epilepsy progression: current theories and perspectives from neuroplasticity in adulthood and development. Epilepsy Res 60: 161-171.

Swartz CM and Abrams R (1996): ECT Instruction Manual, 6th ed. Somatics Inc, Lake Bluff, Illinois.

Tanabe T, Suzuki S, Hara K, Shimakawa S, Wakamiya E, Tamai H (2001): Cerebrospinal fluid and serum neuron-specific enolase levels after febrile seizures. Epilepsia 42: 504-507.

Tiainen M, Roine RO, Pettilä V, Takkunen P (2003): Serum neuron-specific enolase and S-100B protein in cardiac arrest patients treated with hypothermia. Stroke 34: 2881-2886.

Tien RD and Felsbegr GJ (1995): The hippocampus in status epilepticus: demonstration of signal intensity and morphologic changes with sequential fast spin-echo MR imaging. Radiology 194: 249-256.

Tomson T, Nashef L, Ryvlin P (2008): Sudden unexpected death in epilepsy: current knowledge and future directions. Lancet Neurol 7: 1021-1031.

Toro CT, Hallak JE, Dunham JS, Leite JP, Sakamoto AC, Guarnieri R, Fonk V, Deakin JF (2007): The NR1 N-methyl-D-aspartate subunit and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in temporal lobe epilepsy hippocampus: a comparison of patients with and without coexisting psychiatric symptoms. Epilepsia 48: 2352-2356.

Townend W, Dibble C, Abid K, Vail A, Sherwood R, Lecky F (2006): Rapid elimination of protein S-100B from serum after minor head trauma. J Neurotrauma 23: 149-155.

Townend W and Ingerbrigtsen T (2006): Head injury outcome prediction: a role for protein S-100B? Injury 37:1098-1108.

Trivedi MH, Hollander E, Nutt D, Blier P (2008): Clinical evidence and potential neurobiological underpinnings of unresolved symptoms of depression. J Clin Psychiatry 69: 246-258.

Tumani H, Otto M, Gefeller O, Wiltfang J, Herrendorf G, Mogge S, Steinhoff BJ (1999): Kinetics of serum neuron-specific enolase and prolactin in patients after single epileptic seizures. Epilepsia 40: 713-718.

The UK ECT Review Group (2003): Efficacy and safety of electroconvulsive therapy in depressive disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet 361: 799-808.

Üstün TB, Ayuso-Mateos JL, Chatterji S, Mathers C, Murray CJL (2004): Global burden of depressive disorders in the year 2000. Br J Psychiatry 184: 386-392.

Van Paesschen W, Connelly A, King MD, Jackson GD, Duncan JS (1997): The spectrum of hippocampal sclerosis: a quantitative magnetic resonance imaging study. Ann Neurol 41: 41-51.

Vermuyten K, Lowenthal A, Karcher D (1990): Detection of neuron specific enolase concentrations in cerebrospinal fluid from patients with neurological disorders by means of a sensitive enzyme immunoassay. Clin Chim Acta 187: 69-78.

Vezzani A, Peltola J, Janigro D (2008): Inflammation. In: Epilepsy A Comprehensive Textbook. Engel J Jr, Pedley TA (Eds). 2nd ed. LWW, Philadelphia, pp. 267-276.

Vos PE, Lamers KJB, Hendriks JCM, van Haaren M, Beems T, Zimmerman C, van Geel W, de Reus H, Biert J, Verbeek MM (2004): Glial and neuronal proteins in serum predict outcome after severe traumatic brain injury. Neurology 62: 1303-1310.

Wahlund B and von Rosen D (2003): ECT of major depressed patients in relation to biological and clinical variables: a brief overview. Neuropsychopharmacology 28: S21-S26.

Wakayama Y, Shibuya S, Kawasw J, Sagawa F, Hashizume Y (1987): High neuronspecific enolase level of cerebrospinal fluid in the early stage of Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. Klin Wochenschr 65: 798-801.

Wasterlain CG, Fujikawa DG, Penix L, Sankar R (1993): Pathophysiological mechanisms of brain damage from status epilepticus. Epilepsia 34: S37-S53.

Weber JT (2007): Experimental models of repetitive brain injuries. Prog Brain Res 161: 253-261.

Whitaker-Azmitia PM and Azmitia EC (1994): Astroglial 5-HT1a receptors and S-100 beta in development and plasticity. Perspect Dev Neurobiol 2: 233-238.

Whitaker-Azmitia PM, Wingate M, Borella A, Gerlai R, Roder J, Azmitia EC (1997): Transgenic mice overexpressing the neurotrophic factor S-100 beta show neuronal cytoskeletal and behavioral signs of altered aging processes: implications for Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome. Brain Res 776: 51-60.

Wieshmann UC, Woermann FG, Lemieux L, Free SL, Bartlett PA, Smith SJM, Duncan JS, Stevens JM, Shorvon SD (1997): Development of hippocampal atrophy: a serial magnetic resonance imaging study in a patient who developed epilepsy after generalized status epilepticus. Epilepsia 38: 1238-1241.

Wiesmann M, Wandinger KP, Missler U, Eckhoff D, Rothermundt M, Arolt V, Kirchner H (1999): Elevated plasma levels of S-100b protein in schizophrenic patients. Biol Psychiatry 45: 1508-1511.

Willert C, Spitzer C, Kusserow S, Runge U (2004): Serum neuron-specific enolase, prolactin, and creatine kinase after epileptic and psychogenic non-epileptic seizures. Acta Neurol Scand 109: 318-323.

Wunderlich MT, Ebert AD, Kratz T, Goertler M, Jost S, Herrmann M (1999): Early neurobehavioral outcome after stroke is related to release of neurobiochemical markers of brain damage. Stroke 30: 1190-1195.

Wiesmann M, Missler U, Hagenström H, Gottmann D (1997): S-100 protein plasma levels after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 139: 1155-1160.

Young GB (2006): Status epilepticus and brain damage: pathology and pathophysiology. Adv Neurol 97: 217-220.

Zachrisson OCG, Balldin J, Ekman R, Naesh O, Rosengren L, Ågren H, Blennow K (2000): No evident neuronal damage after electroconvulsive therapy. Psychiatry Re 96: 157-165.

Zandbergen EG, Hijdra A, Koelman JH, Hart AA, Vos PE, Verbeek MM, de Haan RJ; PROPAC Study Group (2006): Prediction of poor outcome within the first 3 days of postanoxic coma. Neurology 66: 62-68.

Zemlan FP, Rosenberg WS, Luebbe PA, Campbell TA, Dean GE, Weiner NE, Cohen JA, Rudick RA, Woo D (1999): Quantification of axonal damage in traumatic brain injury: Affinity purification and characterization of cerebrospinal fluid tau proteins. J Neurochem 72: 741-750.

Zerr I, Bodemer M, Räcker S, Grosche S, Poser S, Kretzschmer HA, Weber T (1995): Cerebrospinal fluid concentration of neuron-specific enolase in diagnosis of Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. Lancet 345: 1609-1610.

Zimmer DB, Cornwall EH, Landar A, Song W (1995): The S100 protein family: history, function, and expression. Brain Res Bull 37: 417-429.

Öst M, Nylén K, Csajbok L, Ohrfelt AO, Tullberg M, Wikkelsö C, Nellgård P, Risengren L, Blennow K, Nellgårg B (2006): Initial CSF total tau correlates with 1-year outcome in patients with traumatic brain injury. Neurology 67: 1600-1604.



Journal of the Neurological Sciences 183 (2001) 27-31



www.elsevier.com/locate/jns

Normal CSF neuron-specific enolase and S-100 protein levels in patients with recent non-complicated tonic-clonic seizures

Johanna Palmio^{a,*}, Jukka Peltola^{a,c}, Pauli Vuorinen^b, Seppo Laine^b, Jaana Suhonen^d, Tapani Keränen^{a,c}

^aDepartment of Neurology, Tampere University Hospital, P.O. Box 2000, Fin-33521 Tampere, Finland ^bDepartment of Clinical Microbiology, Tampere University Hospital, Tampere, Finland ^cMedical School, University of Tampere, Tampere, Finland ^dDepartment of Neurology, Central Hospital, Jyväskylä, Finland

Received 17 March 2000; received in revised form 3 October 2000; accepted 30 October 2000

Abstract

Purpose: Increased concentrations of the nervous-system-specific proteins neuron-specific enolase (NSE) and S-100 protein (S-100) have been measured with lesions in the CNS. Elevated levels of serum NSE (s-NSE) have been found in status epilepticus, but also after single epileptic seizures. Because larger studies addressing cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of NSE or S-100 have not been performed, we measured CSF NSE and S-100 after tonic–clonic seizures to search for evidence of neuronal and glial damage. *Methods:* 22 consecutive patients with single, previously undiagnosed and untreated tonic–clonic seizures were studied. Serum and CSF samples were collected within 24 h after seizure. 18 serum and CSF samples were measured from a control group. *Results:* The mean CSF NSE was 8.9 ng/ml (range 0–28 ng/ml) and s-NSE 8.2 ng/ml (range 5–15 ng/ml) in the patient group. The mean concentrations in the control group were 13.1 ng/ml (range 3–24 ng/ml) and 8.0 ng/ml (range 5–12 ng/ml) respectively. The mean CSF S-100 was 3.17 μ g/l (range 1.45–7.02 μ g/l) and serum S-100 0.05 μ g/l (range 0–0.32 μ g/l), and in controls 3.19 μ g/l (range 1.52–5.13 μ g/l) and 0.08 μ g/l (range 0–0.28 μ g/l). *Conclusion:* There were no significant differences between the mean concentrations of NSE or S-100 in CSF and serum between the epileptic group and controls. These results do not confirm the previous observation of elevated NSE-levels after tonic–clonic seizures, which argues against neuronal or glial damage after uncomplicated tonic–clonic seizures in unmedicated patients. © 2001 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Neuron-specific enolase; S-100 protein; Cerebrospinal fluid; Epilepsy

1. Introduction

Acute brain injury caused by status epilepticus (SE) has been well documented both in humans and experimental models, but whether single generalized tonic–clonic seizures can damage the brain is controversial [1]. Neuronspecific enolase (NSE) and S-100 protein (S-100) are regarded as nervous-system-specific proteins. NSE, γ subunit of enolase, is predominantly present in neurons, neuroendocrine cells and neuroendocrine tumors. S-100 is a mixture of dimeric proteins consisting of two subunits α and β . S-100b ($\beta\beta$ -S-100) is present in high concentrations in glial cells and Schwann cells.

Cerebrospinal fluid neuron-specific enolase (CSF NSE) has been the best marker of neuronal damage in neurologic insults such as stroke and anoxia [2], but there are only a few studies addressing CSF NSE concentrations in epilepsy. CSF NSE was increased after methohexital-induced electrographic seizures in patients undergoing epilepsy surgery [3]. Elevated CSF NSE levels have been reported in children with afebrile seizures [4] and in 4 out of 9 adult patients who suffered epileptic seizures within 5 days of

^{*}Corresponding author. Tel.: +358-3-347-5111; fax: +358-3-247-4351.

E-mail address: johanna.palmio@nic.fi (J. Palmio).

lumbar puncture [5]. CSF obtained within 24 h of status epilepticus showed increased concentrations of NSE in 9 out of 11 patients [6]. Serum NSE (s-NSE) was increased after tonic–clonic SE [7], complex partial SE [8] and nonconvulsive SE [9]. When determining s-NSE levels in the major subtypes of SE, DeGiorgio et al. found these levels to be highest in complex partial and subclinical generalized convulsive SE [10]. Elevated levels of s-NSE have been observed after single seizures during inpatient video/EEG monitoring, suggesting that also single seizures could cause at least transient neuronal injury [1].

Increased levels of S-100 in CSF or serum have been measured after focal and global ischemic or hemorrhagic brain damage and head trauma indicating damage in glial cells [11–14]. In patients with hypoxic brain damage after cardiac arrest S-100 levels have correlated with the degree of coma and the time of anoxia [13]. There has also been a correlation between higher peak S-100 levels and worse clinical outcome both at discharge and in long-term follow-up [14]. S-100 concentrations in serum showed peak levels within 1–3 h after an epileptic seizure [15]. Steinhoff et al. measured cistemal CSF S-100 and NSE levels obtained during implantation of foramen ovale electrodes in eight patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. These levels in ipsilateral site of seizure onset were significantly higher than in controls [16].

We studied CSF and serum levels of NSE and S-100 after recent unprovoked single tonic-clonic seizures. At least in serum, these measurements are simple, fast and easy to carry out, and they might be helpful in evaluating the occurrence and degree of neuronal and glial damage after non-complicated seizures and in designing treatment in acute epileptic seizures [1], but such studies have not been undertaken to our knowledge.

2. Patients and methods

A total of 22 consecutive patients with single, previously undiagnosed and untreated tonic-clonic or partial secondarily generalized seizures [17] were studied. The mean age in the epileptic group was 39 years (range 15-60) and in the control group 40 years (16-56 years). The serum and CSF samples of NSE and S-100 were taken within 24 h after the seizure. We excluded patients with seizures associated with electrolyte disturbances, metabolic causes, acute brain disease and trauma. Hemolyzed samples were not included for NSE analysis. All patients were fully informed of the risks and potential benefits of the CSF examination, and informed consent was obtained from each subject. The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Tampere University Hospital. The control samples were obtained from 18 adult patients on whom lumbar puncture (LP) was performed to exclude neurological disease. These patients had normal results in neurological examination and normal radiology (CT or MRI imaging of the brain in 10 out of 18) and laboratory findings. Lumbar CSF was obtained between 9 a.m. and 2 p.m. The first 2 ml of CSF was used for routine examination and a further 200 μ l for the present study. Blood was collected within 30 min of lumbar puncture in a Vacutainer EDTA vacuum tube and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 min. The serum and CSF samples were stored at -70° C prior to analysis.

NSE assays were performed using an enzyme immunoassay technique (Cobas Core[®] NSE EIA, Hoffmann-La Roche, Switzerland). S-100b concentrations were measured with immunoluminometric assay for the quantification of protein (LIA-mat[®] Sangtec[®]100, Sangtec Medical, Sweden). The assays were performed according to manufacturers' instructions. The sensitivity of the S-100 assay was <0.02 μ g/l.

2.1. Statistical methods

The mean and standard deviations were calculated for continuous variables. Statistical significance of differences between two groups was tested by independent two-tailed *t*-test. Associations between continuous variables were assessed with Pearson's correlation coefficient. All analyses were performed using a microcomputer and the Statistica/WIN package (version 5.1; Statsoft Inc., Tulsa, OK). A *P* value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

The mean age in the epileptic group was 39 years (range 15-60) and in the control group 40 years (16-56 years). 12 patients had single seizures. Six patients had seizures due to alcohol withdrawal. All patients had had tomoclonic or partial secondarily generalized seizures and six patients had another seizure in emergency room. The seizures lasted from 1 to 15 min according to inpatient records. After the first epileptic seizure patients usually underwent EEG and CT or MRI examinations. There were two cerebral tumors (meningeoma and glioblastoma multiforme) in the epileptic group. The other patients had normal CT/MRI findings. The serum and CSF samples of NSE and S-100 were taken within 24 h after the seizure (mean 15.1 h, range 2.5-23 h). There were no significant differences in the mean values of CSF and serum NSE or CSF and serum S-100 between epileptic and control groups (Table 1). These values for individual patients and controls are given in Fig. 1. Three patients had CSF NSE levels above 12 ng/ml. One patient whose level was 28 ng/ml had an additional prolonged seizure in emergency room (the first seizure of some min at home and the second lasting 15 min). Another patient (CSF NSE level 23 ng/ml) had also two seizures within 24 h regaining consciousness between them but having difficulties in

30

Table 1 CSF and serum neuron-specific enolase (NSE) and S-100 levels in patients with recent non-complicated tonic-clonic seizures

	Controls $(n=20)$	Patients (n=22)	P values
CSF ^a -NSE (ng/ml)	13.1	8.9	0.60
(S.D.) ^a	(6.1)	(6.9)	
s-NSE (ng/ml)	8.0	8.2	0.21
(S.D.)	(2.1)	(2.8)	
CSF-S-100 (µg/l)	3.19	3.17	0.13
(S.D.)	(0.92)	(1.33)	
s-S-100 (µg/1)	0.08	0.05	0.13
(S.D.)	(0.06)	(0.10)	

^a CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; S.D., standard deviation.

speaking for some time after the seizures. The third patient who had the level 19 ng/ml had had only one short uncomplicated seizure. The two patients who were found to have tumors (meningeoma and glioblastoma multiforme) also had normal values (in CSF, NSE 3 and 9 ng/ml, and S-100 3.16 and 2.91 μ g/l respectively).

There was also no correlation between serum and CSF levels of NSE (r=0.13, P=0.40) and serum and CSF levels of S-100 (r=0.05, P=0.73)

4. Discussion

To our knowledge, this study is the first to report that CSF and serum NSE levels are not elevated after uncomplicated seizures in newly diagnosed patients. The results are in contrast to those of Rabinowicz et al. [1] who reported elevation of s-NSE; the mean baseline s-NSE was 7.6 ng/ml and it increased to 16.5 ng/ml in four patients after secondarily generalized tonic-clonic seizures. In our study the mean s-NSF level in the patient group was 8.2 ng/ml and the mean CSF-NSE level was 8.9 ng/ml; these values are comparable to the baseline value in Rabinowicz's study [3]. The main reason for this discrepancy may be difference in patient population. We evaluated patients who were nonmedicated and had their first (or second) epileptic seizure in their life whereas the patients in Rabinowicz's study were evaluated for epilepsy surgery. It is possible that the effect of seizures in chronic epilepsy may differ from that in newly onset single seizures or epilepsy. Patients with chronic refractory epilepsy show a decrease in hippocampal volume possibly as a consequence of seizures [18]. Although it has been shown that a single episode of status epilepticus may lead to hippocampal damage, it remains open whether a short, uncomplicated seizure can lead to neuronal damage. A high proportion of patients with convulsive and non-convulsive SE had an elevation of s-NSF suggesting that the duration of the clinical or electrical seizure activity may be of crucial importance in determining whether neuronal damage occurs [7,8].

DeGiorgio et al. [10] found highest s-NSE levels in



Fig. 1. (a) NSE concentrations in patients with seizures and in controls (b) S-100 concentrations in patients with seizures and in controls.

complex partial and subclinical SE, attributing these findings to longer duration of SE and acute neurological insults in these subgroups. Our patients had only tonic– clonic or partial secondarily generalized seizures. One patient whose CSF NSE level was 28 ng/ml had an additional prolonged seizure lasting 15 min in emergency room. Another patient (CSF NSE level 23) had also two seizures within 24 h regaining consciousness between them but having difficulties in speaking for some time after the seizures. These factors might explain the high levels of CSF NSE of these two patients, which would seem to indicate that duration of seizures is an important factor.

Theoretically, NSE is an ideal indicator of neuronal damage, since it is present only in low concentrations outside the nervous system. CSF NSE has been the best indicator of neuronal damage in such disorders as anoxic brain damage after cardiac arrest, stroke and some specific cases of coma [2]. In these conditions s-NSE levels have correlated with CSF values rather well. It has been suggested that seizure activity in the brain causes a release of NSE into the CSF compartment. S-NSE is thought to be released into the CSF compartment by an increase in permeability of the blood-brain barrier. The rate of release and clearance of NSE from CSF and serum are largely unknown. In three patients CSF NSE levels rose three- to fourfold from baseline within 60 min after methohexital activation but s-NSE was unchanged [3]. In Rabinowicz's study s-NSE levels attained peak levels 24-48 h after a seizure [1]. In Thumani's study s-NSE levels were highest at 1 h in the group of patients with complex partial seizures and at 3 h in the group with secondarily generalized tonic-clonic seizure [19]. DeGiorgio et al. [10] reported also that s-NSE peaked on average 41 h after the onset of SE and 41% of subjects peaked within 24 h and 33% within 24 to 48 h. As our samples were taken within 24 h after seizure (mean 15.1 h), possible elevations after that time went undetected.

The definitions of normal upper limits are quite variable depending on the control group chosen. In our study the control group comprised patients with acute neurological symptoms (dizziness, headache). This group may well differ from the normal population even if there was no demonstrable pathology in further examinations. CT/MRI imagings were made in 10 patients out of 18 and the results were all normal. In the control group the mean CSF values were actually higher (13.0 ng/ml) than in the study group. The highest CSF NSE value in the control group was 24 ng/ml. Slightly raised CSF NSE levels have been reported in conditions like migraine that are not traditionally associated with neuronal damage [5], so the interpretation of modest elevation of NSE remains open.

S-100 levels have been studied mostly in patients with acute brain infarction, hypoxic brain damage after cardiac arrest, and head trauma. In eight patients with brain infarction whose S-100 levels were measured daily for 9 days, peak S-100 plasma levels were measured 2.5 ± 1.3 days after infarction [14]. On the other hand there were peak levels of S-100 in serum within 1–3 h after complicated partial and secondarily generalized epileptic seizure and a gradual decrease thereafter [15]. These differences may be due to different mechanisms in epileptic seizure and brain damage after ischemic incident. In our study measurements were made within 24 h after the seizure and there were no elevated concentrations in the patient group.

In conclusion, our study reported normal CSF NSE and S-100 levels after noncomplicated single seizures. Larger series with different epileptic groups are needed to determine the incidence of increase in concentrations of these indicators of neuronal and glial damage. No clear correlation between serum and CSF levels of NSE or S-100 emerged with these normal results. Increased concentrations of NSE and S-100 would be needed to ascertain whether there is a correlation between serum and CSF levels in conditions such as status epilepticus.

References

- Rabinowicz A, Correale J, Boutros R, Couldwell W, Henderson C, DeGiorgio C. Neuron-specific enolase is increased after single seizures during inpatients video/EEG monitoring. Epilepsia 1996;37:122–5.
- [2] Roine R, Somer H, Kaste M, Viinikka L, Karonen SL. Neurological outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Arch Neurol 1989;46:753–6.
- [3] Rabinowicz A, Correale J, Couldwell W, DeGiorgio C. CSF neuronspecific enolase after methohexital activation during electrocorticography. Neurology 1994;44:1167–9.
- [4] Ko F, Chiantg C, Wu C et al. Studies of neuron specific enolase in serum and cerebrospinal fluid of children with neurological diseases. Kaohsiung J Med Sci 1990;6:137–43.
- [5] Royds J, Davies-Jones G, Lewtas N, Timperley W, Taylor CB. Enolase isoenzymes in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with diseases of the nervous system. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1983;46:1031-6.
- [6] Correale J, Rabinowicz A, Heck C, Smith T, Loskota W, DeGiorgio C. Status epilepticus increases CSF levels of neuron-specific enolase and alters the blood-brain barrier. Neurology 1998;50:1388–91.
- [7] DeGiorgio C, Correale J, Gott P et al. Serum neuron-specific enolase in human status epilepticus. Neurology 1995;45:1134–7.
- [8] DeGiorgio C, Gott P, Rabinowicz A, Heck C, Smith T, Correale J. Neuron-specific enolase, a marker of acute neuronal injury, is increased in complex partial status epilepticus. Epilepsia 1996;37:606–9.
- [9] Rabinowicz A, Correale J, Bracht K, Smith T, DeGiorgio C. Neuron-specific enolase is increased after nonconvulsive status epilepticus. Epilepsia 1995;36:475–9.
- [10] DeGiorgio C, Heck C, Rabinowicz A, Gott P, Smith T, Correale J. Serum neuron-specific enolase in the major subtypes of status epilepticus. Neurology 1999;52:746–9.
- [11] Persson L, Hårdemark H-G, Gustafsson J, Rundström G, Mendel-Hartvig I, Esscher T, Påhlman S. S-100 protein and neuron-specific enolase in cerebro spinal fluid and serum: Markers of cell damage in human central nervous system. Stroke 1987;18:911–8.
- [12] Büttner T, Weyers S, Postert T, Sprengelmeyer R, Kuhn W. S-100 protein: Serum marker of focal brain damage after ischemic territorial MCA infarction. Stroke 1997;28:1961–5.
- [13] Rosen H, Rosengren L, Herlitz J, Blomstrand C. Increased serum levels of the S-100 protein are associated with hypoxic brain damage after cardiac arrest. Stroke 1998;29:473–7.
- [14] Missler U, Wiesmann M, Friedrich C, Kaps M. S-100 protein and neuron-specific enolase concentrations in blood as indicators of infarction volume and prognosis in acute ischemic stroke. Stroke 1997;28:1956–60.
- [15] Otto M, Wiltfang J, Mogge S, Tumani H, Pfahlberg A, Steinhoff B. Changing levels of S-IOG protein in serum after epileptic seizures. Abstract Epilepsia 1998;39(2):73.
- [16] Steinhoff B, Tumani H, Otto M, Mursch K, Wiltfang J, Herrendorf G, Bittermann H-J, Felgenhauer K, Paulus W, Markakis E. Cisternal S-100 protein and neuron-specific enolase are elevated and sitespecific markers in intractable temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 1999;36:75–82.

- [17] Commission of Classification and Terminology of the International League Against Epilepsy. Proposal for revised clinical and electroencephalographic classification of epileptic seizures. Epilepsia 1981;22:489–501.
- [18] Salmenperä T, Kalviainen R, Partanen K, Pitkänen A. Hippocampal

damage caused by seizures in temporal lobe epilepsy. Lancet 1998;351:35.

[19] Tumani H, Otto M, Gefeller O, Wiltfang J, Herrendorf G, Mogge S, Steinhoff B. Kinetics of serum neuron-specific enolase and prolactin in patients after single epileptic seizures. Epilepsia 1999;40:713–8.





journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/epilepsyres

Elevated serum neuron-specific enolase in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy: A video—EEG study

Johanna Palmio^{a,b,*}, Tapani Keränen^b, Tiina Alapirtti^b, Janne Hulkkonen^c, Riikka Mäkinen^d, Päivi Holm^e, Jaana Suhonen^f, Jukka Peltola^b

^a Department of Neurology, University of Tampere, FIN-33014 Tampere, Finland

^b Department of Neurology, Tampere University Hospital, P.O. Box 2000, FIN-33521 Tampere, Finland

^c Clinical Physiology, Tampere University Hospital, P.O. Box 2000, FIN-33521 Tampere, Finland

^d Clinical Neurophysiology, Tampere University Hospital, P.O. Box 2000, FIN-33521 Tampere, Finland

^e Clinical Chemistry, Tampere University Hospital, P.O. Box 2000, FIN-33521 Tampere, Finland

^f Department of Neurology, Jokilaakso Hospital, Sairaalantie 11, FIN-42120 Jämsä, Finland

Received 20 June 2007; received in revised form 11 April 2008; accepted 18 May 2008 Available online 1 July 2008

KEYWORDS

Temporal lobe epilepsy; Extratemporal lobe epilepsy; Video—EEG monitoring; Neuron-specific enolase; S-100 protein; Brain damage **Summary** Established markers of brain damage, neuron-specific enolase (NSE) and S-100b protein (S-100), may increase after status epilepticus, but whether a single tonic-clonic or complex partial seizure induces elevation of these markers is not known. Furthermore, it is unclear whether the risk of seizure-related neuronal damage in temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) differs from that in extratemporal lobe epilepsies (XTLE). The aim of this study was to analyze NSE and S-100 in patients with TLE and XTLE after acute seizures. The levels of NSE and S-100 were measured in serum before (0 h) and at 3, 6, 12, and 24 h after acute seizures in 31 patients during inpatient video–EEG monitoring. The patients were categorized into the TLE and the XTLE group based on video–EEG recordings and MRI findings.

Fifteen patients had TLE and 16 XTLE. Index seizures were mainly complex partial seizures (n = 21). In TLE mean \pm S.D. values for NSE levels $(\mu g/L)$ were 8.36 ± 2.64 (0 h), 11.35 ± 3.84 (3 h), 13.48 ± 4.49 (6 h), 12.95 ± 5.46 (12 h) and 10.33 ± 3.13 (24 h) (p = 0.006, ANOVA). In XTLE the changes were not significant (p = 0.3). There was less increase in the levels of S-100 in TLE (p = 0.05) and no significant change in XTLE (p = 0.4).

The levels of markers of neuronal damage were increased in patients with TLE, not only after tonic-clonic but also after complex partial seizures. These data suggest that TLE may be associated with brain damage.

© 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

* Corresponding author at: Department of Neurology, University of Tampere, FIN-33014 Tampere, Finland. Fax: +358 3 35514351.
 E-mail addresses: johanna.palmio@uta.fi (J. Palmio), tapani.keranen@pshp.fi (T. Keränen), tiina.alapirtti@pshp.fi (T. Alapirtti), janne.hulkkonen@pshp.fi (J. Hulkkonen), riikka.makinen@pshp.fi (R. Mäkinen), paivi.holm@pshp.fi (P. Holm), jaana.suhonen@jamsanth.fi (J. Suhonen), jukka.peltola@pshp.fi (J. Peltola).

0920-1211/\$ — see front matter © 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2008.05.006

Introduction

NSE and S-100 are specific markers of brain damage. NSE, the γ -subunit of enolase, is predominantly present in neurons, neuroendocrine cells and neuroendocrine tumors. S-100 is present in high concentrations in glial cells and Schwann cells. Measurement of the serum levels of these proteins can be used to assess the primary damage as well as to predict outcome after hypoxic (Böttiger et al., 2001; Rech et al., 2006) and traumatic brain damage (Vos et al., 2004) and ischemic stroke (Wunderlich et al., 1999).

Both experimental and clinical studies have shown that status epilepticus may induce neuronal damage, especially in the hippocampus (DeGiorgio et al., 1995; Correale et al., 1998; Young, 2006). Whether repeated brief seizures may cause neuronal damage is, however, controversial (Pitkänen et al., 2002; Sutula, 2004). Increased levels of NSE have been reported after single seizures during inpatient video-EEG monitoring (Rabinowicz et al., 1996) and the S-100 concentrations in serum have peaked within 1-3h after an epileptic seizure (Otto et al., 1998). However, in our previous study neither NSE nor S-100 was elevated in serum or CSF after a single tonic-clonic seizure in patients with a newly diagnosed seizure disorder (Palmio et al., 2001). The studied seizure type has mainly been generalized tonic-clonic seizure; only a few analyses have been done after partial seizures. No comparison between temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) and extratemporal lobe epilepsies (XTLE) regarding NSE or S-100 has been made. There is clinical and experimental evidence suggesting that TLE may be a seizure-related progressive disorder (Pitkänen and Sutula, 2002), but data on XTLE are lacking.

The aim of this study was to analyze NSE and S-100 levels in patients with TLE and XTLE before and after acute seizures, observed in video-EEG monitoring, so as

to determine whether acute seizures induce neuronal damage.

Methods

The study was performed at the Department of Neurology, Tampere University Hospital, Finland. The patients were selected from those who were admitted to 24-h inpatient video-EEG monitoring for electro-clinical characterization of seizures, localization of the seizure focus, or for therapeutic assessment. Seizures and epileptic syndromes were classified according to the ILAE diagnostic criteria (Commission on Classification and Terminology of the International League Against Epilepsy, 1981). We included 31 patients with localization-related epilepsy, 16 women and 15 men, with a mean age of 34 years (range: 16-58 years). Based on the findings in the video-EEG recordings and MRI, 15 of the patients had TLE and 16 had XTLE. Of the XTLE patients 14 had frontal lobe epilepsy and 2 had parietal lobe epilepsy. Clinical data of these two groups of patients are shown in Table 1. Seizure burden was measured by total duration of seizures recorded during the 24 h sampling period. Six of the patients were on antiepileptic drug monotherapy, 24 on polytherapy (the mean number of medications 2.6), and 1 patient had no medication. Three of the patients were also treated with vagus nerve stimulation.

All the patients gave their written informed consent. The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Tampere University Hospital.

Blood sampling and biochemical analyses

The baseline (0h) serum samples were collected when the patients were admitted for video-EEG monitoring, and at 3, 6, 12, and 24 h after index seizure (Table 1). The first clearly identifiable ictal event was selected as index seizure. The serum samples were stored at -70°C prior to analysis. NSE and S-100 assays were performed using electrochemiluminescense immunoassay techniques (ECLIA) (Roche Diagnostics GmbH). The NSE and S-100 concentrations were measured by the Elecsys® 2010 Immunoassay Analyzer (Roche Diagnostics GmbH). The lower detection limit for NSE was $<0.05 \,\mu$ g/L and the lower detection limit for S-100 was $<0.005 \,\mu$ g/L.

	Temporal lobe epilepsy	Extratemporal epilepsy
No. of patients	15	16
Male/female	8/7	7/9
Age, mean (range)	40.3 (20-58)	28.3 (16-52)
Mean duration of epilepsy, years (range)	24.2 (2-56)	16.2 (1-52)
Mean seizure frequency/month ^a (range)	7.4 (0.5–26)	40.8 (0.5-200)
Patients on mono-/polytherapy	3/12	3/12
MRI findings		
Normal	4	8
HS	9	_
Cortical dysplasia	1	4
Other	1	4
Index seizure type		
SPS	1	4
CPS	11	10
SGTCS	3	2

HS, hippocampal sclerosis; SPS, simple partial seizure; CPS, complex partial seizure; SGTCS, secondary generalized tonic-clonic seizure. During the last year.

 0.068 ± 0.043

 0.065 ± 0.033

 0.077 ± 0.055^{b}

 0.062 ± 0.033

Table 2 The mean values of NSE and S-100 (μ g/L \pm S.D.) in temporal lobe (TLE) and extratemporal lobe epilepsy (XTLE) before (0h) and at 3, 6, 12 and 24h after index seizure

 0.082 ± 0.044^{b}

 0.062 ± 0.033

^a Wilcoxon-matched pairs: 0h < 3h, p = 0.005; 0h < 6h, p = 0.0009; 0h < 12h, p = 0.002; 0h < 24h, p = 0.008.

^b Wilcoxon-matched pairs: 0h < 6h, p = 0.05; 0h < 12h, p = 0.01.

 0.076 ± 0.070

 0.064 ± 0.036

Statistical analysis

NSE TLE

XTLE

XTLE

S-100 TLE

Friedman analysis of variance (ANOVA) with post hoc comparisons (Wilcoxon matched pairs test), Kruskall-Wallis ANOVA and Mann–Whitney U-test were used to compare concentrations of NSE and S-100. Area under curve (AUC) values were estimated using MedCalc (ver. Win 9.1.0.1, MedCalc software, Mariakerke, Belgium) (Matthews et al., 1990). Statistical calculations were carried out using Statistica (ver. Win 5.1D, Statsoft Inc., Tulsa, OK, USA). Findings were considered statistically significant at p values less than 0.05.

Results

In the TLE group the serum levels of both NSE and S-100 showed a statistically significant increase, whereas in the XTLE group the changes were not significant. The mean values for NSE and S-100 in the two groups are shown in Table 2 and the individual values for NSE in Fig. 1. As the increase in the NSE concentration after an index seizure seemed to be single peaked and linear, we made a further effort to analyze NSE kinetics during the different time intervals by calculating the AUC curves for each subject (Matthews et al., 1990). As could be expected, based on the data of single time points (Table 2), the difference in NSE AUCs from the baseline (0h) to the 24h end-point was clearly significant (AUC_{0-24h} for TLE: 78.64 ± 48.22 vs. XTLE: 24.58 ± 35.89 , *p* < 0.005). This difference stands for net NSE concentration difference in TLE and XTLE during the whole video-EEG monitoring. The major difference was caused by the robust increase in NSE in TLE from 6 to 12 h as well as 12-24 h postictal time intervals (AUC_{6-12h} for TLE: 25.6 ± 20.6 vs. XTLE: 7.8 ± 13.37 , p < 0.013 and AUC_{12-24h} for TLE: 36.67 ± 28.53 vs. XTLE: 6.69 ± 19.10 , p < 0.009). The net proportional increase in NSE compared with baseline was $46.3\pm41.2\%$ in TLE and $12.2 \pm 17.4\%$ in XTLE (*p* < 0.006) during the 24 h monitoring. The time to reach maximum of circulating NSE was 10.2 ± 7.76 h for TLE and 7.88 ± 5.78 h for XTLE after index seizure (p = 0.39).

The mean number of seizures in the TLE group was 2.6 (range: 1-11). In the XTLE group one patient had 200 and an other 100 seizures during the 24h; excluding these patients the mean number in this group was 4.7 (range: 1-12). Five patients had only one brief seizure during the sampling period. The maximum change in the levels of NSE in these patients (mean: $6.4 \mu g/L$; range: 4.9-7.9) was not statistically different from that in the other patients (mean:



 0.064 ± 0.048

 0.057 ± 0.025

0.05

0.4

NSE concentrations (μ g/L) in patients with temporal Figure 1 lobe (TLE) and extratemporal lobe epilepsy (XTLE) at each time point.

7.4 μ g/L; range: 2.0–13.1). The mean seizure burden (seconds ± S.D.) in TLE was 259 ± 216 and in XTLE 2492 ± 7704. The median was 182 s in TLE and 260 s in XTLE. Five patients (three in the TLE, two in the XTLE group) had a secondarily generalized tonic-clonic seizure (SGTCS) as index seizure. Their mean NSE level at its highest was 11.39 μ g/L at 6 h and the highest mean S-100 level was 0.135 μ g/L at 3 h (*n*=5). For partial seizures the mean level of NSE was 11.88 μ g/L at 6 h and that of S-100 0.059 μ g/L at 3 h (*n*=26). The mean levels of NSE or S-100 were not significantly increased either within or between the subgroups of patients based on different etiologies of epilepsy.

Discussion

The present study suggests that self-limited seizures in TLE may be associated with an increase in serum levels of both NSE and S-100, and that seizures in chronic TLE may thus cause neuronal damage. The increased production of seizure-related NSE in TLE was observed at 3 h and it seemed to continue at least up to 24 h. The change in the serum levels of S-100 was less pronounced and of shorter duration. Peak levels of both NSE and S-100 in TLE-related seizures seemed to occur at 6 h postictally. The changes in serum levels of NSE and S-100 in XTLE-related seizures were not statistically significant, although the postictal levels showed an initial trend towards an increase. Thus, the risk of seizure-related neuronal damage may be different in TLE and in XTLE.

NSE in both serum and CSF has been previously studied in patients with status epilepticus or single brief seizures. There are indications that NSE levels can be increased by partial seizures, but more pronounced increase is seen after generalized or prolonged seizures (Pitkänen and Sutula, 2002). NSE has been increased in complex partial status epilepticus (CPSE), and high NSE levels reflect the long duration of CPSE (DeGiorgio et al., 1996, 1999). Four previous video-EEG studies with postictal measurements of either NSE or S-100 and with carefully localized seizures have been undertaken (Rabinowicz et al., 1996; Tumani et al., 1999; Leutmezer et al., 2002; Willert et al., 2004). In a study similar to ours (Tumani et al., 1999), NSE levels were increased in only a few of their patients, and mean levels of NSE were not significantly increased. Furthermore, the levels in the complex partial seizure (CPS) and secondarily generalized tonic-clonic seizure groups did not differ, but the NSE values peaked later in the SGTCS group (3 h vs. 1 h). Sixteen of their patients had TLE and five XTLE but they did not compare the results between two groups. The authors did not measure baseline levels but compared the postictal NSE levels with those of control subjects (Tumani et al., 1999). In a study which did not provide information on the localization of the seizure focus, elevated serum NSE levels were observed in altogether 34% of patients (both CPS and SGTCS) (Willert et al., 2004). Another study found increased serum levels of NSE both after single CPS (three of nine) and single SGTCS (four of four) (Rabinowicz et al., 1996). Few studies have measured S-100 after single seizures, but no postictal elevation of the levels has been noted (Büttner et al., 1999; Palmio et al., 2001: Leutmezer et al., 2002). In contrast to our findings, the only previous study of S-100 in TLE patients in video—EEG did not find changes in S-100 (Leutmezer et al., 2002). As the number of patients was small (n = 10), different results might be explained by a random sampling effect and differences in the methods used for biochemical analyses.

Most of our patients had CPS as index seizure. Only three in the TLE and two in the XTLE group had SGTCS and their NSE levels do not explain the changes observed in these groups. However, S-100 levels were more increased at 3 h after SGTCS than after CPS ($0.135 \,\mu$ g/L vs. $0.059 \,\mu$ g/L). The number of SGTCS patients was small, and more extensive studies are needed to determine whether S-100 levels increase significantly after SGTCS. Although many patients experienced recurrent seizures during the sampling period in our study, the number or duration of seizures did not explain the increased levels of NSE.

The magnitude of clinically significant increase in NSE or S-100 levels in terms of brain damage is not well established. The upper normal levels for NSE and S-100 vary in previous studies. Serum NSE concentration was $8.7 \,\mu$ g/L in a normal population (Casmiro et al., 2005), and the values of S-100 in healthy controls have been between 0.018 and 0.098 μ g/L (Arts et al., 2006). The increase of these markers in epileptic patients might indicate a more subtle and transient injury. However, in patients with refractory epilepsy the cumulative effect of even transient brain injury associated with seizures might become clinically significant in the course of years.

Experimental models of epilepsy and the phenomenon of kindling have provided information on structural and functional changes in response to seizures. This plasticity in neural circuits may induce progressive damage but also resistance to additional damage (Sutula, 2004). Activation of mesial temporal structures is more prone to damage than are other areas of the brain. In experimental models status epilepticus causes neuronal loss in hippocampus (Ben-Ari, 1985; Pitkänen et al., 2002). Using the kindling model there is indication that also brief recurrent seizures can lead to cell loss and sprouting (Cavazos et al., 1994; Sutula et al., 1996). Supporting these observations, kindled seizures increased the concentration of NSE (Hansen et al., 1990).

Clinical and epidemiological studies have shown that a subset of patients with epilepsy has progressive features such as increasing seizure frequency and cognitive decline (Sutula, 2004). Progressive symptoms are particularly common in TLE (Pitkänen et al., 2002). The reviewed data on the effects of recurrent seizures on cognitive function have shown a slight but consistent relation between seizures and mental decline (Dodrill, 2002). Several MRI studies have shown an association between severity of hippocampal damage and the estimated total seizure number, seizure frequency, and duration of epilepsy (Van Paesschen et al., 1997; Salmenperä et al., 2001). A prospective MRI study with newly diagnosed focal epilepsy found that hippocampal damage occurs in individual patients during 2-3 years of follow-up. The patients who developed hippocampal volume decrease had seizures of longer duration and higher number before the diagnosis of epilepsy (Salmenperä et al., 2005). There is also evidence that the damage in TLE due to mesial temporal sclerosis may be more widespread and bilateral in patients with unilateral TLE (Araújo et al., 2006).

The evidence obtained from these studies suggests that chronic epilepsy and recurrent brief seizures can induce neuronal damage in individual patients with TLE. However, there is paucity of studies addressing XTLE and these features. Our present study adds to information on the consequences of seizures in TLE and XTLE. It is widely accepted that there is a strong correlation between hippocampal sclerosis (HS) and severity of epilepsy. Our study did not find significant changes in the subgroup of patients with HS or other etiological findings, possibly because of the limited number of patients in the different subgroups. More studies are needed to determine the etiological implications and also to follow-up patients with elevated markers of brain damage.

The markers of brain damage NSE and S-100 were elevated in TLE suggesting that brief seizures in TLE may induce neuronal damage, whereas there was no significant change in NSE or S-100 in patients with XTLE. It is accepted that all epilepsies do not cause brain damage nor are invariably progressive, and it would therefore be beneficial to be able to identify those patients who are at risk for damage. This information might have a reflection on treatment, i.e. proceeding to surgery or vagus nerve stimulation earlier in these TLE patients.

References

- Araújo, D., Santos, A.C., Velasco, T.R., Wichert-Ana, L., Terra-Bustamante, V.C., Alexandre Jr., V., Carlotti Jr., C.G., Assirati Jr., J.A., Machado, H.R., Walz, R., Leite, J.P., Sakamoto, A.C., 2006. Volumetric evidence of bilateral damage in unilateral mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia 47, 1354–1359.
- Arts, B., Peters, M., Ponds, R., Honig, A., Menheere, P., van Os, J., 2006. S100 and impact of ECT on depression and cognition. J. ECT 22, 206–212.
- Ben-Ari, Y., 1985. Limbic seizures and brain damage produced by kainic acid: mechanisms and relevance to human temporal lobe epilepsy. Neuroscience 14, 375– 403.
- Böttiger, B.W., Möbes, S., Glätzer, R., Bauer, H., Gries, A., Bärtsch, P., Motsch, J., Martin, E., 2001. Astroglial protein S-100 is an early and sensitive marker of hypoxic brain damage and outcome after cardiac arrest in humans. Circulation 103, 2694– 2698.
- Büttner, T., Lack, B., Jäger, M., Wünsche, W., Kuhn, W., Müller, T., Przuntek, H., Postert, T., 1999. Serum levels of neuron-specific enolase and S-100 protein after single tonic-clonic seizures. J. Neurol. 246, 459–461.
- Casmiro, M., Maitan, S., De Pasquale, F., Cova, V., Scarpa, E., Vignatelli, L., on behalf of the NSE Study Group, 2005. Cerebrospinal fluid and serum neuron-specific enolase concentrations in a normal population. Eur. J. Neurol. 12, 369–374.
- Cavazos, J.E., Das, I., Sutula, T.P., 1994. Neuronal loss induced in limbic pathways by kindling: evidence for induction of hippocampal sclerosis by repeated brief seizures. J. Neurosci. 14, 3106–3121.
- Commission on Classification and Terminology of the International League Against Epilepsy, 1981. Proposal for revised clinical and electroencephalographic classification of epileptic seizures. Epilepsia 22, 489–501.
- Correale, J., Rabinowicz, A.L., Heck, C.N., Smith, T.D., Loskota, W.J., DeGiorgio, C.M., 1998. Status epilepticus increases CSF levels of neuron-specific enolase and alters the blood-brain barrier. Neurology 50, 1388–1391.
- DeGiorgio, C.M., Correale, J.D., Gott, P.S., Ginsburg, D.L., Bracht, K.A., Smith, T., Boutros, R., Loskota, W.J., Rabinowicz, A.L., 1995. Serum neuron-specific enolase in human status epilepticus. Neurology 45, 1134–1137.

- DeGiorgio, C.M., Gott, P.S., Rabinowicz, A.L., Heck, C.N., Smith, T.D., Correale, J.D., 1996. Neuron-specific enolase, a marker of acute neuronal injury, is increased in complex partial status epilepticus. Epilepsia 37, 606–609.
- DeGiorgio, C.M., Heck, C.N., Rabinowicz, A.L., Gott, P.S., Smith, T., Correale, J., 1999. Serum neuron-specific enolase in the major subtypes of status epilepticus. Neurology 52, 746–749.
- Dodrill, C.B., 2002. Progressive cognitive decline in adolescents and adults with epilepsy. Prog. Brain Res. 135, 397–408.
- Hansen, A., Jørgensen, O.S., Bolwig, T.G., Barry, D.I., 1990. Hippocampal kindling alters the concentration of glial fibrillary acidic protein and other marker proteins in rat brain. Brain Res. 531, 301–311.
- Leutmezer, F., Wagner, O., Baumgartner, C., 2002. Serum S-100 protein is not a suitable marker in temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia 43, 1172–1174.
- Matthews, J.N.S., Altman, D.G., Campbell, M.J., Royston, P., 1990. Analysis of serial measurements in medical research. BMJ 300, 230–235.
- Otto, M., Wiltfang, J., Mogge, S., Tumani, H., Pfahlberg, A., Steinhoff, B., 1998. Changing levels of S-100 protein in serum after epileptic seizures. Epilepsia 39 (suppl. 2), 73 (Abstract).
- Palmio, J., Peltola, J., Vuorinen, P., Laine, S., Suhonen, J., Keränen, T., 2001. Normal CSF neuron-specific enolase and S-100 protein levels in patients with recent noncomplicated tonic-clonic seizures. J. Neurol. Sci. 183, 27– 31.
- Pitkänen, A., Nissinen, J., Nairismägi, J., Lukasiuk, K., Grohn, O.H., Miettinen, R., Kauppinen, R., 2002. Progression of neuronal damage after status epilepticus and spontaneous seizures in a rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Prog. Brain Res. 135, 67–83.
- Pitkänen, A., Sutula, T.P., 2002. Is epilepsy a progressive disorder? Prospects for new therapeutic approaches in temporal-lobe epilepsy. Lancet Neurol. 1, 173–181.
- Rabinowicz, A.L., Correale, J., Boutros, R.B., Couldwell, W.T., Henderson, C.W., DeGiorgio, C.M., 1996. Neuron-specific enolase is increased after single seizures during inpatient video/EEG monitoring. Epilepsia 37, 122–125.
- Rech, T.H., Vieira, S.R., Nagel, F., Brauner, J.S., Scalco, R., 2006. Serum neuron-specific enolase as early predictor of outcome after in-hospital cardiac arrest: a cohort study. Crit. Care 10, R133.
- Salmenperä, T., Kälviäinen, R., Partanen, K., Pitkänen, A., 2001. Hippocampal and amygdaloid damage in partial epilepsy: a cross-sectional MRI study of 241 patients. Epilepsy Res. 46, 69– 82.
- Salmenperä, T., Könönen, M., Roberts, N., Vanninen, R., Pitkänen, A., Kälviäinen, R., 2005. Hippocampal damage in newly diagnosed focal epilepsy: a prospective study. Neurology 64, 62–68.
- Sutula, T., Koch, J., Golarai, G., Watanabe, Y., McNamara, J.O., 1996. NMDA receptor dependence of kindling and mossy fiber sprouting: evidence that the NMDA receptor regulates patterning of hippocampal circuits in the adult brain. J. Neurosci. 16, 7398–7406.
- Sutula, T.P., 2004. Mechanisms of epilepsy progression: current theories and perspectives from neuroplasticity in adulthood and development. Epilepsy Res. 60, 161–171.
- Tumani, H., Otto, M., Gefeller, O., Wiltfang, J., Herrendorf, G., Mogge, S., Steinhoff, B.J., 1999. Kinetics of serum neuronspecific enolase and prolactin in patients after single epileptic seizures. Epilepsia 40, 713–718.
- Van Paesschen, W., Connelly, A., King, M.D., Jackson, G.D., Duncan, J.S., 1997. The spectrum of hippocampal sclerosis: a quantitative magnetic resonance imaging study. Ann. Neurol. 41, 41–51.
- Vos, P.E., Lamers, K.J.B., Hendriks, J.C.M., van Haaren, M., Beems, T., Zimmerman, C., van Geel, W., de ReusF H., Biert, J., Verbeek, M.M., 2004. Glial and neuronal proteins in serum predict

outcome after severe traumatic brain injury. Neurology 62, 1303–1310.

- Willert, C., Spitzer, C., Kusserow, S., Runge, U., 2004. Serum neuron-specific enolase, prolactin, and creatine kinase after epileptic and psychogenic non-epileptic seizures. Acta Neurol. Scand. 109, 318–323.
- Wunderlich, M.T., Ebert, A.D., Kratz, T., Goertler, M., Jost, S., Herrmann, M., 1999. Early neurobehavioral outcome after stroke is related to release of neurobiochemical markers of brain damage. Stroke 30, 1190–1195.
- Young, G.B., 2006. Status epilepticus and brain damage: pathology and pathophysiology. Adv. Neurol. 97, 217–220.

ARTICLE IN PRESS

Seizure xxx (2009) xxx-xxx



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Seizure



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/yseiz

Cerebrospinal fluid tau as a marker of neuronal damage after epileptic seizure

Johanna Palmio ^{a,b,*}, Jaana Suhonen ^c, Tapani Keränen ^b, Janne Hulkkonen ^d, Jukka Peltola ^b, Tuula Pirttilä ^e

^a Department of Neurology, University of Tampere, FIN-33014 Tampere, Finland

^b Department of Neurology, Tampere University Hospital, P.O. Box 2000, FIN-33521 Tampere, Finland

^c Department of Neurology, Jokilaakso Hospital, FIN-42120 Jämsä, Finland

^d Clinical Physiology, Tampere University Hospital, P.O. Box 2000, FIN-33521 Tampere, Finland

^e Department of Neurology, University of Kuopio, P.O. Box 1627, FIN-70211 Kuopio, Finland

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 3 October 2008 Received in revised form 2 April 2009 Accepted 9 April 2009

Keywords: Axonal damage Cerebrospinal fluid Epileptic seizure Phosphorylated tau protein Tau protein

ABSTRACT

Purpose: Whether repeated brief seizures can cause neuronal damage is controversial. Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) total tau (T-tau) and phosphorylated tau (P-tau) measurements have been suggested for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease, and T-tau may also be a marker of axonal damage and neuronal degeneration. We studied T-tau and P-tau levels and P-tau/T-tau ratio in CSF after epileptic seizures in order to determine whether they are increased after seizures.

Methods: A total of 54 patients with tonic–clonic or partial secondarily generalized seizures due to various etiologies were studied and CSF obtained within 48 h after the seizure.

Results: There were no statistical differences in the levels of T-tau (p = 0.09, ANOVA) or P-tau (p = 0.60) between different etiologic groups or controls. No patients with epilepsy of unknown origin had abnormal CSF T-tau whereas 11 patients with acute or remote symptomatic seizures had abnormal T-tau levels and the P-tau/T-tau ratio showed significant differences between the groups and controls (p = 0.003).

Conclusions: Epileptic seizures with unknown etiology did not increase CSF tau levels. Abnormal tau levels were associated with either acute or remote symptomatic seizures with known etiology. The presence of elevated CSF tau increases the probability of symptomatic cause in a patient with a seizure. © 2009 British Epilepsy Association. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Clinical and experimental studies have shown that status epilepticus may induce neuronal damage, especially in the hippocampus. Whether repeated brief seizures can cause such neuronal damage is, however, controversial.^{1,2} Markers of brain injury, such as neuron-specific enolase (NSE) or S-100b protein (S-100), have been measured in patients with seizures. Increased levels of NSE have been reported in a subset of epileptic patients.³ However, in our previous study neither NSE nor S-100 was elevated in serum or cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) after a single tonic-clonic seizure in patients with a newly diagnosed seizure disorder.⁴

Tau is a microtubule-associated protein with a major role in normal microtubular function in axons. Tau is a phosphoprotein but abnormally high phosphorylation of tau protein decreases its ability to promote microtubular assembly. The equilibrium between phosphorylation and dephosphorylation modulates cytoskeletal stability and axonal morphology.⁵ Tau protein is

* Corresponding author at: Department of Neurology, University of Tampere, FIN-33014 Tampere, Finland. Tel.: +358 3 31166783; fax: +358 3 35516164.

E-mail address: johanna.palmio@uta.fi (J. Palmio).

primarily localized in axons, and after brain parenchymal damage its release into CSF may increase.⁶ Increased levels of CSF total tau (T-tau) and especially phosphorylated tau (P-tau) are frequently found in patients with Alzheimer's disease (AD) but also in patients with various neurological diseases, such as traumatic brain injury,⁷ acute ischemic stroke,⁸ and viral encephalitis, suggesting that Ttau CSF levels reflect the extent of axonal damage and neuronal degeneration.^{9,10} CSF tau levels are very high in patients with Creuzfeldt–Jakob disease.¹¹

To our knowledge, tau levels have not been previously measured after epileptic seizures. We hypothesized that CSF tau levels may be a marker of neuronal damage in patients suffering from epileptic seizures. Therefore, we studied T-tau and P-tau levels and P-tau/T-tau ratio in CSF after epileptic seizures due to various etiologies.

2. Materials and methods

The study was performed at the Emergency Department of Neurology, Tampere University Hospital, Finland. A total of 54 patients with tonic–clonic or partial secondarily generalized seizures were included in the study. The patients had either single or recurrent seizures (the median number of seizures was 1.5).

Please cite this article in press as: Palmio J, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid tau as a marker of neuronal damage after epileptic seizure, Seizure: Eur J Epilepsy (2009), doi:10.1016/j.seizure.2009.04.006

^{1059-1311/\$ -} see front matter © 2009 British Epilepsy Association. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.seizure.2009.04.006

2

ARTICLE IN PRESS

J. Palmio et al./Seizure xxx (2009) xxx-xxx

Nine patients had status epilepticus. There were 30 male and 24 female patients with a mean age of 48 years (range 16–88 years). All patients were fully informed of the risks and potential benefits of the CSF examination, which was performed to exclude CNS infection. Informed consent to participate in the study was obtained from each subject. The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Tampere University Hospital.

CSF tau increases with age.^{12,13} The reference values for tau have been established for elderly patients (>60 years) in our laboratory.¹⁴ Therefore, we obtained control samples from 31 younger (<60 years) patients with neurological symptoms (e.g. dizziness, headache) on whom lumbar puncture was performed to exclude neurological disease. Clinical examination or imaging studies (computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the head) revealed no pathological findings in control subjects. The mean age in the control group was 40 years (range 15–56 years).

The patients were divided into groups based on the underlying etiology of epileptic seizures. The seizures were caused by alcohol withdrawal in group 1 (ALCO, n = 15). In groups 2 and 3 the patients had diagnosis of epilepsy. Group 2 (SYMPT, n = 16) had remote symptomatic epilepsy and in group 3 (EPI, n = 13) the patients had either cryptogenic focal (n = 10) or idiopathic epilepsy (n = 3) with no related findings in brain CT or MRI. The etiology of remote symptomatic epilepsy (group 2) was tumor in the CNS (n = 6), post-stroke or post-traumatic epilepsy (n = 7), Alzheimer's disease (n = 1), multiple sclerosis (n = 1), and post-encephalitic epilepsy (n = 1). In group 4 (ACU, n = 7) seizures were caused by acute systemic illness (sepsis and hyponatremia) or acute CNS disorder (acute brain infarction, encephalitis, necrotizing encephalomyelitis). In addition to these four groups, three patients had only a single seizure of unknown etiology.

2.1. CSF sampling and biochemical analyses

The CSF samples were taken within 48 h (mean 14.4 h) after the seizure. The samples were stored at -70 °C prior to analysis. The CSF levels of T-tau and P-tau_(181P) were measured by a commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, ELISA (Innogenetics, Ghent, Belgium) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The ELISA analyses were done blinded to the diagnostic group. Two patients in group 4 (ACU) and two in controls did not have enough CSF for P-tau measurement. P-tau/T-tau ratio was also calculated.

2.2. Statistical analysis

Because the parameters were not normally distributed nonparametric methods were used. Kruskal–Wallis ANOVA and Mann–Whitney *U*-test were used to compare concentrations of T-tau and P-tau. Frequency tables were compared with Pearson Chi-square test (in 2×5 tables, 4 degrees of freedom) and Fisher's exact test (post hoc comparisons in 2×2 tables, 1 degree of freedom) when appropriate. The correlations were calculated using Spearman's correlations. Statistical calculations were carried out using Statistica (ver. Win 5.1D, Statsoft Inc., Tulsa, OK, USA). Findings were considered statistically significant at *p*-values less than 0.05.

3. Results

The median T-tau level was 163.1 pg/mL and P-tau 39.6 pg/mL in all patients, and 143.5 pg/mL and 38.1 pg/mL in the controls (Fig. 1). The median P-tau/T-tau ratio was 0.23 in the patients and 0.26 in the controls. There were no statistical differences in T-tau (p = 0.09, ANOVA) or P-tau (p = 0.6, ANOVA) levels between different etiologic groups and controls (Table 1). The number of



Fig. 1. The individual values of total tau (T-tau) and phosphorylated tau (P-tau) and P-tau/T-tau ratio in different patient groups and normal controls. ALCO, alcohol withdrawal; SYMPT, remote symptomatic epilepsy; EPI, cryptogenic focal, or idiopathic epilepsy; ACU, acute systemic or CNS illness. The horizontal lines represent the cutoff value for T-tau and P-tau (>60 years).

seizures, status epilepticus or the time interval between the seizures and CSF sample did not correlate with tau concentrations (r = -0.17 to 0.28, Spearman's correlations).

P-tau/T-tau ratio showed significant differences between the groups and controls (p = 0.003, ANOVA, Table 1). The controls differed from groups 1, 2 and 4 (p = 0.010-0.008 Mann–Whitney *U*-test) but there was no statistical difference between the agematched controls and epilepsy group 3 (p = 0.7).

A concentration of T-tau above 400 pg/mL for patients over 60 years was considered abnormal as established in our laboratory.¹⁴ Previous studies have suggested that the reference values for

Please cite this article in press as: Palmio J, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid tau as a marker of neuronal damage after epileptic seizure, Seizure: Eur J Epilepsy (2009), doi:10.1016/j.seizure.2009.04.006

ARTICLE IN PRESS

J. Palmio et al./Seizure xxx (2009) xxx-xxx

Table 1

The median values of total tau (T-tau), phosphorylated tau (P-tau), and P-tau/T-tau ratio in different patient groups and controls.

	Group 1 (ALCO)	Group 2 (SYMPT)	Group 3 (EPI)	Group 4 (ACU)	Controls	p-Value ANOVA
No of patients	15	16	13	7	31	
The mean age (range)	49.5 (31-69)	60.0 (25-88)	35.9 (16-73)	45.3 (16-75)	40.3 (15-56)	
T-tau, pg/mL (quartiles)	163.1 (129.3-333.3)	259.1 (115.5-518.2)	133.4 (114.9-159.2)	251.9 (127.3-388.7)	143.5 (108.1-214.9)	0.090
P-tau, pg/mL (quartiles)	36.6 (26.8-53.9)	47.6 (29.1-64.2)	37.6 (31.1-41.0)	38.7 (34.2-50.6)	38.1 (31.3-51.6)	0.600
P-tau/T-tau ratio (quartiles)	0.217 (0.164-0.243)	0.202 (0.135-0.242)	0.266 (0.244-0.327)	0.191 (0.093-0.232)	0.256 (0.238-0.314)	0.003
The mean time interval ^a	14.2 (4-24)	14.5 (3-48)	16.5 (6-48)	12.7 (5-24)		
hours (range)						

Group 1 (ALCO), alcohol withdrawal; group 2 (SYMPT), remote symptomatic epilepsy; group 3 (EPI), cryptogenic focal, or idiopathic epilepsy; group 4 (ACU), acute systemic or CNS illness.

^a Time interval between seizure and LP.

Table 2

Characteristics of the patients with elevated total tau (T-tau) levels.

Patients, age	Diagnosis, etiology of epilepsy	T-tau (pg/mL)	P-tau ^a (pg/mL)	P-tau/T-tau ratio
Group 1 (ALCO)				
No 1, 44 years	Alcoholic encephalopathy	692.0	36.6	0.053
No 2, 69 years	Wernicke's encephalopathy	512.3	74.8	0.146
No 3, 41 years	Alcohol withdrawal	403.4	69.2	0.172
Group 2 (SYMPT)				
No 4, 88 years	Alzheimer's disease	809.0	105.2	0.130
No 5, 62 years	Post-traumatic epilepsy	443.3	47.1	0.106
No 6, 86 years	Post-stroke epilepsy	1687.9	59.4	0.035
No 7, 32 years	Post-encephalitic epilepsy	593.1	83.4	0.141
No 8, 66 years	Large inoperable pituitary adenoma	706.2	80.6	0.114
Group 4 (ACU)				
No 9, 16 years	Viral encephalitis	388.7	34.2	0.088
No 10, 74 years	Viral encephalitis	546.6	50.6	0.093
No 11, 17 years	Necrotizing encephalomyelitis	350.2	ND	ND

Group 1 (ALCO), alcohol withdrawal; group 2 (SYMPT), remote symptomatic epilepsy; group 4 (ACU), acute systemic or CNS illness.

^a Phosphorylated tau.

younger patients are lower.^{12,13} We used 300 pg/mL as reference value for patients below 60 years. However, we found no differences in the mean levels of CSF T-tau or P-tau between age-matched controls and patients with epilepsy group 3.

There was statistical difference in the frequency of abnormal T-tau levels between the groups studied (p = 0.002, Pearson Chisquare). None of the patients with epilepsy of unknown origin (group 3) or the controls had abnormal levels of T-tau. Three patients with a single seizure had also normal levels of T-tau. However, a total of 11 patients (20%) in other groups had abnormal T-tau levels. The characteristics of these patients are shown in Table 2.

In group 1 (ALCO) 20% had abnormal tau concentrations, and two of them showed also brain atrophy in MRI. In group 2 (SYMPT) tau was abnormal in 31%, and all of them showed brain pathology in MRI; two with brain atrophy, one with old contusion and brain atrophy, one with large basal expansion (pituitary adenoma), and one with hippocampal atrophy after encephalitis. In group 4 (ACU) 43% had abnormal tau concentrations, two patients had acute encephalitis and one had necrotizing encephalomyelitis due to intrathecal cytarabine treatment for Burkitt's lymphoma. The controls differed from groups with either acute or remote symptomatic seizures (groups 1, 2 and 4; p = 0.03-0.003, Fisher's exact test) but not from those with epileptic seizures with unknown etiology (group 3, NS). When groups 2 (SYMPT) and 3 (EPI), i.e. epilepsy without acute illness, were compared, there was also statistical difference in the number of abnormal T-tau (p = 0.04, Fisher's exact test).

4. Discussion

Our results showed that CSF tau levels were within the normal range in patients with idiopathic or cryptogenic epilepsy, and increased levels were only found in patients with either acute or remote symptomatic seizures.

To our knowledge seizure related changes of CSF tau have not been previously studied in patients with different etiologies of epilepsy. A case report based on a single patient found a transient elevation of CSF tau levels in one patient measured 4 days after the seizure.¹⁵ CSF tau showed an increase at 2–3 days after acute stroke^{8,16} but in traumatic brain damage and brain injury after aortic surgery the increase in tau levels started earlier, during the first day.^{7,17,18} The time interval between LP and seizure varied (mean 14.4 h) in our patients but no correlation between tau levels and the time interval was observed.

Elevated CSF T-tau levels have been consistently found in AD and have been suggested to be useful in differentiating AD from normal ageing and depression.¹⁹ However, an overlap exists with other neurodegenerative disorders or conditions with brain parenchymal damage.9,20 P-tau is considered to reflect the phosphorylation state of tau, being a more direct marker for AD. Consistent with this, in patients with ischemic stroke CSF T-tau but not P-tau levels were increased and showed correlation with the size of the infarct, indicating that CSF T-tau reflects the degree of neuronal damage.^{8,16} Also in Creuzfeldt-Jakob disease marked elevation of T-tau but not P-tau levels has been reported.¹¹ In Kapaki's study sensitivity and specificity of P-tau/T-tau ratio were better in the discrimination of AD versus controls than P-tau alone.²⁰ The best cutoff level for this ratio was >0.169. Most of our patients with abnormal T-tau levels had quite low P-tau and also low P-tau/T-tau ratio indicating rather non-specific neurodegenerative disorder or axonal damage.

CSF T-tau has been studied in alcohol related cognitive disorders (ARCD) in attempt to discriminate AD from other dementias using tau measurements. Tau pathology has been found

Please cite this article in press as: Palmio J, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid tau as a marker of neuronal damage after epileptic seizure, Seizure: Eur J Epilepsy (2009), doi:10.1016/j.seizure.2009.04.006

ARTICLE IN PRESS

J. Palmio et al./Seizure xxx (2009) xxx-xxx

in chronic alcoholics with thiamine deficiency and degeneration of nucleus basalis may develop through formation of neurofibrillary tangles.²¹ This may account for the higher tau values for the ARCD patients compared with the controls²² or increased tau levels seen in patients with alcohol dementia.²³ In contrast to this, CSF tau was within normal levels in demented and non-demented alcoholics compared with AD patients and controls.²⁴ In our patients with alcohol withdrawal seizures (group 1) 20% had elevated T-tau levels, two with known alcoholic encephalopathy.

Increased levels of tau have also been reported in patients with cerebral infections. In one study 18% of HIV infected patients had increased CSF tau levels, but of those who had cerebral infections and necrosis elevated tau levels were found in 35%.²⁵ In Süssmuth's study, patients with viral encephalitis and bacterial meningitis with meningoencephalopathic complications had elevated tau levels.¹⁰ The authors suggested that tau may be a marker for parenchymal involvement. Consistent with this, three patients in group 4 (ACU) had abnormal levels of tau, two with acute viral encephalitis, one with necrotizing encephalopathy.

Other biomarkers, mainly NSE and S-100, have been used to assess possible brain damage after seizure. Several studies have reported raised serum and CSF NSE levels after brief seizures as well as after status epilepticus,^{3,26} but no postictal elevation of S-100 after single seizures has been observed.^{4,27,28} However, cisternal S-100 as well as NSE levels ipsilateral to the site of seizure onset were elevated interictally in intractable temporal lobe epilepsy.²⁹ The reduction of endogenous tau levels protected mice against excitotoxicity in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model,³⁰ indicating that tau may mediate excitotoxicity. Therefore high CSF tau levels after seizure could mark a poorer prognosis. In this study, the seizures without additional pathology were not associated with high tau levels. Furthermore, the number of seizures or status epilepticus did not correlate with the levels of tau.

We conclude that abnormal CSF tau levels may be found in patients with seizures. However, acute seizure itself does not seem to lead to the elevation of CSF tau. The presence of increased CSF tau in a patient with epileptic seizure increases the probability of symptomatic cause.

Acknowledgement

This work was supported by the Medical Research Fund of Tampere University Hospital.

References

- Pitkänen A, Nissinen J, Nairismägi J, Lukasiuk K, Grohn OH, Miettinen R, et al. Progression of neuronal damage after status epilepticus and spontaneous seizures in a rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Progress in Brain Research* 2002;135:67–83.
- 2. Engel Jr J. So what can we conclude—do seizures damage the brain? *Progress in Brain Research* 2002;**135**:509–12.
- Pitkänen A, Sutula TP. Is epilepsy a progressive disorder? Prospects for new therapeutic approaches in temporal-lobe epilepsy. *Lancet Neurology* 2002;1: 173–81.
- Palmio J, Peltola J, Vuorinen P, Laine S, Suhonen J, Keränen T. Normal CSF neuron-specific enolase and S-100 protein levels in patients with recent noncomplicated tonic-clonic seizures. *Journal of Neurological Sciences* 2001;183: 27–31.
- Mandelkow E-M, Biernat J, Drewes G, Gutske N, Trinczek B, Mandelkow E. Tau domains, phosphorylation, and interactions with microtubules. *Neurobiology of Aging* 1995;16:355–63.

- Delacourte A. Pathological tau proteins of Alzheimer's disease as a biochemical marker of neurofibrillary degeneration. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy* 1994; 48:287–95.
- 7. Öst M, Nylén K, Csajbok L, Ohrfelt AO, Tullberg M, Wikkelsö C, et al. Initial CSF total tau correlates with 1-year outcome in patients with traumatic brain injury. *Neurology* 2006;**67**:1600–4.
- Hesse C, Rosengren L, Vanmechelen E, Vandersticheke H, Jensen C, Davidsson P, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid markers for Alzheimer's disease evaluated after acute ischemic stroke. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease 2000;2:199–206.
- Blennow K, Wallin A, Agren H, Spenger C, Siegfried J, Vanmechelen E. Tau protein in cerebrospinal fluid: a biochemical marker for axonal degeneration in Alzheimer's disease? *Molecular and Chemical Neuropathology* 1995;26:231–45.
- Süssmuth S, Reiber H, Tumani H. Tau protein in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF): a blood-CSF barrier related evaluation in patients with various neurological diseases. *Neuroscience Letters* 2001;300:95–8.
- 11. Riemenschneider M, Wagenpfeil S, Vanderstichele H, Otto M, Wiltfang J, Kretzschmar H, et al. Phospho-tau/total tau ratio in cerebrospinal fluid discriminates Creuzfeldt–Jakob disease from other dementias. *Molecular Psychiatry* 2003;8:3343–7.
- Sjögren M, Vanderstichele H, Ågren H, Zachrisson O, Edsbagge M, Wikkelsø C, et al. Tau and Aβ42 in cerebrospinal fluid from healthy adults 21–93 years of age: establishment of reference values. *Clinical Chemistry* 2001;47:1776–81.
- Bürger née Buch K, Padberg F, Nolde T, Teipel SJ, Stübne S, Haslinger A, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid tau protein shows a better discrimination in young old (<70 years) than in old old patients with Alzheimer's disease compared with controls. *Neuroscience Letters* 1999;**277**:21–4.
- Herukka S-K, Hallikainen M, Soininen H, Pirttilä T. CSF Aβ42 and tau or phosphorylated tau and prediction of progressive mild cognitive impairment. *Neurology* 2005;64:1294–7.
- Matsui T, Maruyama M, Matsushita S, Arai H, Higuchi S. A transient increase in cerebrospinal fluid tau level after epileptic seizure in an elderly patient. *Journal* of the American Geriatrics Society 2007;55:2096–7.
- Hesse C, Rosengren L, Andreasen N, Davidsson P, Vanderstichele H, Vanmechelen E, et al. Transient increase in total tau but not phospho-tau in human cerebrospinal fluid after acute stroke. *Neuroscience Letters* 2001;297:187–90.
- 17. Zemlan FP, Rosenberg WS, Luebbe PA, Campbell TA, Dean GE, Weiner NE, et al. Quantification of axonal damage in traumatic brain injury: affinity purification and characterization of cerebrospinal fluid tau proteins. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 1999;**72**:741–50.
- Shiiya N, Kunihara T, Miyatake T, Matsuzaki K, Yasuda K. Tau protein in the cerebrospinal fluid is a marker of brain injury after aortic surgery. *Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 2004;77:2034–8.
- 19. Blennow K, de Leon MJ, Zetterberg H. Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet* 2006;**368**: 387-403.
- 20. Kapaki EN, Paraskevas GP, Tzerakis NG, Sfagos C, Seretis A, Kararizou E, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid tau, phospho-tau181 and β-amyloid1-42 in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus: a discrimination from Alzheimer's disease. European Journal of Neurology 2007;14:168–73.
- Cullen KM, Halliday GM. Neurofibrillary tangles in chronic alcoholics. Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology 1995;21:312–8.
- 22. Kapaki E, Liappas I, Paraskevas G, Theotoka I, Rabavilas A. The diagnostic value of tau protein β-amyloid (1–42) and their ratio for the discrimination of alcohol-related cognitive disorders from Alzheimer's disease in the early stages. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry 2005;20:722–9.
- Blasko I, Lederer W, Oberbauer H, Walch T, Kemmler G, Hinterhuber H, et al. Measurement of thirteen biological markers in CSF of patients with Alzheimer's disease and other dementias. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders* 2006; 21:9–15.
- Morikawa Y, Arai H, Matsushita S, Kato M, Higuchi M, Miura M, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid tau protein levels in demented and nondemented alcoholics. *Alcoholism Clinical and Experimental Research* 1999;23:575–7.
- Correale J, Rabinowicz AL, Heck CN, Smith TD, Loskota WJ, DeGiorgio CM. Status epilepticus increases CSF levels of neuron-specific enolase and alters the bloodbrain barrier. *Neurology* 1998;50:1388–91.
 Dense T, H. J. B. J. B. J. Status and Status
- Büttner T, Lack B, Jäger M, Wünsche W, Kuhn W, Müller T, et al. Serum levels of neuron-specific enolase and s-100 protein after single tonic-clonic seizures. *Journal of Neurology* 1999;246:459–61.
- Leutmezer F, Wagner O, Baumgartner C. Serum S-100 protein is not a suitable marker in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia* 2002;43:1172-4.
 Cheiraber F, D. Sterner M, Sterner
- 2002;43:11/2-4.
 Steinhoff B, Tumani H, Otto M, Mursch K, Wiltfang J, Herrendorf G, et al. Cisternal S100 protein and neuron-specific enolase are elevated and sitespecific markers in intractable temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Research* 1999;36:75-82.
- Roberson ED, Scearce-Levie K, Palop JJ, Yan F, Cheng IH, Wu T, et al. Reducing endogenous tau ameliorates amyloid β-induced deficits in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model. *Science* 2007;**316**:750–4.

Please cite this article in press as: Palmio J, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid tau as a marker of neuronal damage after epileptic seizure, Seizure: Eur J Epilepsy (2009), doi:10.1016/j.seizure.2009.04.006

4